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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Good

          3  afternoon. I am Eva Moskowitz, Chair of the

          4  Education Committee. I am joined by Chris Quinn,

          5  Chair of the Health Committee. I wanted to just

          6  briefly introduce this hearing and say that this is

          7  a combined oversight hearing on the implementation

          8  of state law requiring automatic external

          9  defibrillators at all of our public schools, as well

         10  as off-site pre-K programs, as well as a hearing on

         11  two laws introduced by my colleague, Intro. 86-A,

         12  introduced by Council Member Jimmy Oddo, and Intro.

         13  131-A, introduced by Council Member Margarita Lopez.

         14                 This Council has had a long history

         15  of interest in defibrillators. We saw at the federal

         16  level, during the Clinton Administration the

         17  implementation of automatic external defibrillators

         18  in federal public buildings, also the airlines

         19  implemented a program of automatic external

         20  defibrillators.

         21                 New York City had one of the worst

         22  survival rates from cardiac arrest, in part because

         23  of traffic congestion, and the Council, along with

         24  the Giuliani Administration, implemented the City's

         25  first program of AEDs, Automatic External
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          2  Defibrillators, in the City and then the state law

          3  came along requiring DOE to have defibrillators in

          4  schools.

          5                 Obviously we have three recent very

          6  tragic deaths and we found out at that point that

          7  there were not defibrillators in all, but I believe

          8  one school, and we are here in part to understand

          9  why there was a lack of compliance and also going

         10  forward how we can make sure that there is

         11  compliance, as well as a broader concern with access

         12  to defibrillators Citywide.

         13                 Let me turn the microphone over to my

         14  colleague Christine Quinn, and then Council Member

         15  Oddo and Lopez.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: First, let me just

         17  take a second to recognize the folks who are here

         18  from the Committee from the Council.

         19                 To my right is Minority Leader

         20  Council Member Oddo, and next to him, I can't see

         21  who that is. Oh, Council Member Bill DeBlasio from

         22  Brooklyn; Council Member Oliver Koppell of the

         23  Bronx; Council Member Al Vann of Brooklyn, a member

         24  of the Health Committee; Council Member Recchia and

         25  Council Member Lopez. And there are a number of
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          2  hearings going on so people will be coming in and

          3  out, I want to apologize for the fact that the

          4  Transportation and Lower Manhattan Select Committees

          5  ran over, and that caused this hearing to start a

          6  little late. But thank you for your patience. We

          7  have also been joined by Council Member Comrie.

          8                 Just to add to what Council Member

          9  Moskowitz said in the introduction. This is a joint

         10  hearing of both of the Committees together. As she

         11  said, the Council has been, for a long time been

         12  strong advocates of the need for having

         13  defibrillators in many public places and in places

         14  where the public has a great deal of access.

         15                 We're here today to, one, try to

         16  further that commitment through looking at two

         17  pieces of legislation our colleagues have drafted.

         18  But also unfortunately to respond to the recent

         19  deaths and tragedies of young people in our school

         20  system, and unfortunately in all of those situations

         21  there were not defibrillators nearby or in those

         22  buildings that could have been utilized to perhaps

         23  maybe save those children's lives, minimally give

         24  them more of a fighting chance before they got to

         25  the hospital where they could have been treated.
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          2                 I think it's important that we look

          3  at both issues today because as we're looking at

          4  legislation and expanding the mandate, we need to

          5  know why to date we have not met the mandate which

          6  the state has put on some parts of the City. And,

          7  you know, I think it's unfortunate that we're

          8  looking why we haven't met this mandate in the

          9  context of these horrible tragedies, but it is none

         10  the less critical that we do it in a timely manner,

         11  as it also relates to our budget.

         12                 Because as I understand it, one of

         13  the reasons the City hasn't, the City claims it

         14  hasn't been able to meet the State mandate is a

         15  funding issue and I think it's very useful we're

         16  having this hearing now in February, the month

         17  before both the Health and the Education Committees

         18  will have, as well as the other committees, when we

         19  will have our budget hearing. So, we will, people

         20  should rest assured, carry the information that

         21  comes up today into those budget context as well.

         22                 I am also fairly certain it will not

         23  be the last time that the Committees together or

         24  separately look at the issue of is the City meeting

         25  the mandate of the State law, and also how and where
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          2  should that mandate be expanded on a City level.

          3                 That said, I'm now going to see if

          4  Council Member Oddo, the author of one of the two

          5  pieces of legislation, which is also before us

          6  today, has anything he would like to add before we

          7  begin.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

          9  Chair. Let me just thank both you and Chair

         10  Moskowitz for having this hearing so promptly, and

         11  we both know that you're two of my favorite

         12  colleagues and two of my favorite people in this

         13  body, and you're two of the best chairs that we have

         14  and I thank you for your work on this issue for the

         15  last several years.

         16                 I generally avoid reading written

         17  opening statements, but this is an issue that's

         18  pretty emotional for me and it's one that we worked

         19  on for a long time and there's lots that I want to

         20  say in sort of framing this, the beginning of this

         21  hearing, I will just ask all of you to sort of bear

         22  with me as I get through this.

         23                 As a young buck, I was taught a thing

         24  or two. For instance, we learned at an early age

         25  that two plus two adds up to four. But what doesn't
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          2  add up for me is the deaths of three students in the

          3  course of seven days.

          4                 One of the other things that we

          5  learned is that history repeats itself. So when I

          6  read about the death of 14-year-old Louis Acompora,

          7  who suffered sudden cardiac arrest on a Lacrosse

          8  field on March 25th, 2000 - three years after I had

          9  already begun working to get AEDs in public

         10  locations throughout the City - I knew that another

         11  child would needlessly and tragically die.

         12                 This job, this wonderful opportunity

         13  to improve the lives of New Yorkers also teaches you

         14  a few things. As a staff person and a Councilman for

         15  the past 12 years, I learned that government is far

         16  too often accused of being reactive rather than

         17  proactive. And far too often, the accusation is

         18  admittedly justified.

         19                 And if I might I'd like to take a

         20  little detour, a little history lesson, to provide

         21  us with some perspective.

         22                 In 1994, a seven-year-old girl was

         23  brutally raped and killed in New Jersey by a

         24  convicted sex offender living across the street,

         25  unbeknownst to her family or community. Her name was

                                                            9

          1  EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  Megan Kanka. And 89 days after her death, a law was

          3  passed in her name.

          4                 In 1997, a 22-year-old nursing

          5  student was murdered in upstate New York by a

          6  violent felon who served only two-thirds of his

          7  sentence, despite a 14-year criminal record of

          8  violence. Her name was Jenna Grieshaber. And nine

          9  months after her death a law was enacted in her

         10  name.

         11                 There should not have been a Megan

         12  Kanka for there to have been a "Megan's Law," nor

         13  should there have been a Jenna Grieshaber for there

         14  to have been "Jenna's Law."

         15                 But in the week beginning January 6,

         16  2003, the week that three students from the Bronx,

         17  Brooklyn and Staten Island collapsed and died, there

         18  was in fact a law on the books requiring 1,200 New

         19  York City public schools to be equipped with

         20  defibrillators, which may, and I underscore "may"

         21  have possibly prevented their deaths.

         22                 All of us are questioning what the

         23  sense of having laws on the books, if they are

         24  disregarded. And once again, it's amazing to me that

         25  an entity charged with the responsibility of caring
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          2  for our children seems to have disregarded the

          3  safety of our children by failing to equip our

          4  schools with defibrillators.

          5                 Every year 400 to 460,000 Americans

          6  die of unexpected sudden cardiac arrest. For each of

          7  these deaths there is a refrain, "it will happen

          8  here, be prepared."

          9                 In 1997, I began the painstaking

         10  process of gathering information about a phenomenon

         11  that was taking place across the country, the

         12  advances in technology that would permit those once

         13  bulky and complex machines known as defibrillators

         14  and which were housed primarily in hospitals to be

         15  placed in public locations in an effort to save the

         16  life of someone suffering from sudden cardiac

         17  arrest.

         18                 Technology has transformed these

         19  machines into lightweight portable life-saving

         20  devices known as AED's, which can shock a heart that

         21  is experiencing ventricular fibrillation back into

         22  normal rhythm by means of an electric current.

         23                 But to be most effective,

         24  defibrillation has to occur as soon as possible.

         25  Each minute of delaying in delivering a necessary
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          2  shock to a cardiac arrest victim reduces the chances

          3  of survival by ten percent.

          4                 The average response time nationally

          5  for emergency medical personnel equipped with

          6  defibrillators is ten to 15 minutes making public

          7  access to defibrillators extremely important.

          8                 In 2000, growing tired of the

          9  legislative process and of reading accounts of New

         10  Yorkers who were suffering sudden cardiac arrest on

         11  trains and in gyms and in stadiums, locations where

         12  people are most likely to suffer ventricular

         13  fibrillation, I decided to put 500,000 in funding

         14  toward the process of equipping public facilities

         15  throughout my district, including ferries, park

         16  facilities and train stations, with these devices.

         17                 Then in 2001, former Mayor Rudy

         18  Giuliani, during his last State of the City Address,

         19  announced that he had secured $3 million in funding

         20  to equip public locations throughout the City with

         21  AEDs. He realized the efficacy of these devices

         22  after asking what could possibly have saved the

         23  lives of two city workers who suffered sudden

         24  cardiac arrest on the job. The answer was an AED.

         25                 This critical policy breakthrough
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          2  allowed me to focus my efforts on another universe

          3  of people, namely students, teachers and parents

          4  visiting our schools who suffer from sudden cardiac

          5  arrest.

          6                 That same year a beloved teacher from

          7  Tottenville High School, Mr. Kevin Sheehy, would

          8  suffer sudden cardiac arrest and die before his

          9  colleagues and students in a gymnasium playing in a

         10  charity basketball game ironically for the American

         11  Heart Association.

         12                 By 2002, I had secured nearly

         13  $325,000 to begin the process of purchasing these

         14  devices and training school personnel in my

         15  district.

         16                 Post 9/11 the money I secured had

         17  been cut to $75,000 and funding that Mayor Giuliani

         18  announced was similarly reduced to a mere $500,000.

         19  Phase II of the Giuliani defibrillator program has

         20  since been postponed.

         21                 Yet, the beat goes on for some while

         22  the lives of men, women and children suffering

         23  sudden cardiac arrest do not.

         24                 It may have already happened here and

         25  yet our schools were not prepared. It will continue

                                                            13

          1  EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  to happen here and the public will not be prepared

          3  unless we pass legislation requiring defibrillators

          4  in public locations throughout this City.

          5                 And who knows if the three lives cut

          6  short earlier this year could have been saved by a

          7  defibrillator. But try telling that to a mother

          8  whose last memory of her son is blocking a routine

          9  goal shot or shooting a basket at the foul line or

         10  trying out for a softball team. Try telling that

         11  child's family that a little device the size of a

         12  laptop was not there to possibly save his life and I

         13  say that was one less tragic lesson that child and

         14  that family did not need to learn.

         15                 It's time to wake up, New York City.

         16  It will happen here. After today, my simple hope is

         17  that we will be prepared.

         18                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         20  Lopez, the author of the other piece of legislation

         21  we're also hearing today.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you, to

         23  both chairs of these committees.

         24                 In 1998, I introduced this piece of

         25  legislation when I just came into the Council. At
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          2  the time I became aware of these particular machines

          3  due to the Community Board Number 2 reaching out to

          4  me about this issue, and trying to figure out how we

          5  can implement the possibility for acquiring this

          6  machine to put it available for the public.

          7                 Immediately after I became aware of

          8  the possibility of having this technology available

          9  to save lives, I became curious to see how we can

         10  amplify the possibility of affecting this issue in a

         11  more broader area. And as a result of that, number

         12  one, I allocated discretionary dollars in my

         13  district to buy some defibrillators for Community

         14  Board 2. I only could have done that because my

         15  limited capacity to allocate dollars at the time

         16  didn't allow me to go further.

         17                 My understanding of this issue was

         18  bigger than Community Board 2, and that was there

         19  for the reason why I decided to proceed with a piece

         20  of legislation that would include public places. Any

         21  public place that is owned by the City, any

         22  privately-owned building where a city provides

         23  services to the public, any privately-owned building

         24  with total occupancy over 600 people. And included

         25  in my bill was the need for the Fire Department and
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          2  the Police Department to be trained into using these

          3  particular machines and to make sure that they are

          4  capable of utilizing at a minute's time.

          5                 I also wanted to make sure that the

          6  Department of Health was involved in the process of

          7  promulgating the rules and regulations that is going

          8  to take place in regard to this piece of

          9  legislation.

         10                 I believe also that in the piece of

         11  legislation we needed to have it required to post

         12  signs that indicate that these machines were

         13  available, and that people know where to get them in

         14  case of an emergency, the same way that you do with

         15  a fire extinguisher.

         16                 I hope that we can pass this piece of

         17  legislation. I have been in this Council for almost

         18  six years now. I cannot claim that I have seen the

         19  passage of many of the pieces of legislation that I

         20  have introduced. I think that all of the ones that I

         21  have introduced are very good, but sometimes they

         22  have not been given the chance, therefore, here I am

         23  sitting for the first time looking at a piece of

         24  legislation that can save potentially hundreds of

         25  lives, and I want to thank both chairs of the
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          2  Committee to give the opportunity for this piece of

          3  legislation to be here, and I hope that this

          4  legislation will be voted on the positive.

          5                 I want to send a message to the

          6  families of the three children that died in the

          7  school system. I am so sorry that that happened.

          8                 Perhaps if the piece of legislation

          9  that I introduced in 1998 was passed, perhaps they

         10  would have not died, and I am so sad that that

         11  happened and God bless you.

         12                 I want to indicate to the chairs that

         13  I may have to go to the other Committee room because

         14  I'm a member of that Committee and we're going to

         15  vote in there. Then I will be back as soon as I

         16  finish in there, and one more time to the two

         17  chairs, thank you very much for considering this

         18  piece of legislation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         20  much, Council Members Odd and Lopez, and welcome,

         21  Tony Shorris. Thank you for your patience in our

         22  delay and we're glad to have you here today. If you

         23  can state your name for the record and also

         24  introduce your colleagues. I'm not sure if you're

         25  DOE or not. Okay. I think the mic isn't on. The
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          2  light has got to be off.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: My name is

          4  Tony Shorris. I'm Deputy Chancellor at the

          5  Department of Education. I am joined by Edward

          6  Gabriel, who is Deputy Commissioner of the Office of

          7  Emergency Management, and Mary Bassett, who is

          8  Deputy Commissioner of the Department of Health and

          9  Mental Hygiene.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Welcome.

         11  Please begin.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I think

         13  Eddie is going to begin.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: I'm here

         15  to review, I've provided some testimony from the

         16  Office of Emergency Management, and it says "good

         17  morning," but good afternoon. I'm Edward Gabriel,

         18  I'm the Deputy Commissioner for Preparedness from

         19  the Office of Emergency Management. In 2001, the

         20  prior administration directed the New York City

         21  Office of Emergency Management to coordinate a

         22  program whereby Automated External Defibrillators -

         23  otherwise known as AED's - were placed in major New

         24  York City government facilities, including office

         25  buildings, the Staten Island Ferry Boats and
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          2  Terminals, senior and community centers and other

          3  public facilities.

          4                 The Bloomberg Administration has

          5  enthusiastically continued funding and support for

          6  this important, life-saving program. The program at

          7  the Department of Education is separate and

          8  independent from the program coordinated by our

          9  office.

         10                 Essentially, AED's deliver an

         11  electric shock to the chest for the purposes of

         12  restarting the heart by making it beat in a more

         13  coordinated manner. The type of treatment is an

         14  effective treatment in the event of a Sudden Cardiac

         15  Arrest. The use of an AED is one of the first steps

         16  in the "chain of survival." It allows individuals

         17  who are trained in providing basic life support,

         18  which is CPR, to perform early defibrillation before

         19  911 services arrive. AED's work to provide immediate

         20  treatment to a patient in need of defibrillation by

         21  detecting a specific type of rapid and erratic

         22  heartbeat and administering electrical shock to

         23  restart the heart to pump effectively again.

         24                 The New York City Office of Emergency

         25  Management was tasked with establishing and chairing
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          2  a Defibrillator Task Force to oversee this

          3  initiative. In order to accomplish its interagency

          4  coordination role, OEM requested that a number of

          5  agencies and organizations become members of the

          6  Task Force. Coordinated by OEM, and working

          7  concurrently with the New York City Fire

          8  Department's and its Office of Medical Affairs, the

          9  Task Force includes representatives from those

         10  agencies in whose facilities the defibrillators

         11  would be installed, including the Department of

         12  Citywide Administrative Services, the New York City

         13  Police Department, the New York City Department of

         14  Parks and Recreation, the New York City Department

         15  of Transportation, and the New York City Department

         16  for the Aging, and key representatives from other

         17  specific locations.

         18                 Each of the defibrillator kits

         19  purchased as part of the Citywide Defibrillator

         20  Program included two batteries, each with a

         21  five-year lifespan, two defibrillator pads, and both

         22  adult- and pediatric-sized "pocket masks" to be used

         23  concurrently with the AED for performing CPR. At the

         24  same time the Fire Department, New York City Fire

         25  Department, devised and instituted an AED medical
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          2  quality assurance program.

          3                 In addition, for each AED that was

          4  distributed, six people from the receiving

          5  institution were fully trained in AED operations and

          6  certified in Cardiopulmonary resuscitation.

          7  Additionally, OEM worked closely with the individual

          8  agencies on the task force, and established a

          9  liaison system to permit continuous monitoring of

         10  the program's implementation, and to resolve any

         11  difficulties or challenges that we were encountering

         12  along the way.

         13                 Before any AED was distributed, a

         14  complete survey of the proposed installation site

         15  was completed. Each and every proposed AED site was

         16  visited in advance, and a careful review was done to

         17  decide where in each facility the AED should be

         18  placed. Each site also received signs that

         19  identified the location of the device, and how to

         20  activate the emergency notification in that

         21  facility.

         22                 This was done to ensure that in the

         23  event of us, the AED was readily accessible and in

         24  top operational form. Moreover, a database

         25  containing site locations, the names of trained
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          2  personnel, and other AED information was prepared

          3  and maintained by the Office of Emergency Management

          4  and by the Fire Department of the City of New York.

          5                 In 2001, the first AED was placed in

          6  the Aser Levy Community Center on Manhattan's Lower

          7  East Side. By August 2001, 301 personnel were

          8  trained to operate 50 AED's that were distributed

          9  among 13 pools, 26 recreation centers, eight golf

         10  courses and two arsenals. Over the next few months,

         11  126 people were trained to operate 21 AEDs that were

         12  placed in ferryboats and both ferry terminals.

         13                 Over the next year, 288 personnel

         14  were deployed to operate 42 AEDs in 26 senior

         15  centers. As of this date, 62 personnel were ready to

         16  operate 10 AED's in each of the Brooklyn, Staten

         17  Island, Queens, Bronx, and Manhattan Borough

         18  Presidents' offices. In addition, City Hall and

         19  Police Headquarters' received four AEDs with 24

         20  staff members being trained and certified.

         21                 In total, 801 people have been

         22  trained and certified in the use of AEDs, and 126

         23  devices have been deployed across the City. The

         24  program's remaining 20 AEDs will be deployed within

         25  the next few months.
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          2                 The Office of Emergency Management

          3  continues to coordinate this AED distribution

          4  process. Each AED is fully tested and catalogued

          5  before distribution, and we are very careful to make

          6  sure that the appropriate personnel are fully

          7  trained in the deployment and use of the AEDs.

          8                 Members of the AED Task Force

          9  continue to regularly meet to coordinate the

         10  remaining distribution of these devices and provide

         11  monthly reports to OEM and FDNY on device status.

         12  Representatives of our office met with the New York

         13  City Department of Education a number of times to

         14  assist the Department with it's AED program, and OEM

         15  will continue to offer guidance to the Department of

         16  Education as they proceed with their program

         17  development.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We have been

         20  joined by Council Member Robert Jackson, from the

         21  Education Committee from Manhattan. Because Mr.

         22  Gabriel I know has another commitment, and in order

         23  to accommodate the Administration we heard from you

         24  first. So, I think we're going to just take a few

         25  minutes to ask you for some questions so that you
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          2  can leave. I know that you have another commitment.

          3                 I had a question. I was under the

          4  impression that the funding for the program to put

          5  defibrillators in public buildings had been

          6  substantially cut, and using your testimony that the

          7  Bloomberg Administration has enthusiastically

          8  continued funding, my understanding was 500,000 was

          9  cut.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: I

         11  believe that there was additional money put back

         12  into the budget for a piece of the program, but I

         13  can get back to you on the specifics of that. You

         14  may be right.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It's sort of

         16  an important fact. The additional commitment was 3

         17  million. I think it has been reduced to 500,000, and

         18  the initial plan, I believe, was to put

         19  defibrillators in 2,000 buildings. That was my

         20  understanding. I was actually involved in proposing

         21  to the Giuliani Administration that AEDs be widely

         22  distributed, but you can't answer the funding

         23  questions?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: No, but

         25  I can get back to you on that. I'll ask our people
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          2  to provide that for you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. That

          4  would be helpful. And it would also be helpful, you

          5  know, to check on the continued funding before --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It's in your

          8  testimony if you're not certain of that fact.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Let me turn

         11  the microphone over to my colleague Christine Quinn.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes, I just want

         13  to underscore that point. I mean, I appreciate

         14  enthusiasm in government, but I'd prefer you to be

         15  less enthusiastic about $2 million than more

         16  enthusiastic about half a million dollars, as long

         17  as the money is getting out there.

         18                 So, you know, OEM usually doesn't

         19  come to Health or Education, but it would just be

         20  useful if there are statements like that that are

         21  going to be made, that actually somebody is here who

         22  knows the answers. So, I know you have to go off to

         23  another meeting, but as opposed to, and I know

         24  you'll get us the information in a timely manner,

         25  but there are a lot of folks here from the Office of
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          2  Legislative Affairs for the Mayor so somebody could

          3  try to get us that answer while the representative

          4  for the Department of Education, the Department of

          5  Health and Mental Hygiene is testifying, I think it

          6  would be very useful for us to have, as we look at

          7  the overall compliance, with the State law as it

          8  relates to schools. So, if somebody from OLA could

          9  try to get that, I think that would be useful. It's

         10  atypical we ask somebody to go get that information

         11  during a hearing, but since there's been a

         12  representative in the testimony that may in fact be

         13  different than what ended up in the budget, I think

         14  it's an appropriate request, so I hope somebody

         15  could try to get us that information.

         16                 Do you know for the task force what

         17  the initial number of buildings were, or the number

         18  of people you were going to train with the original

         19  goals there were?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Yes. And

         21  you're talking about back in 1990 -- excuse me, back

         22  in 2000, 2001?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right. Because you

         24  said you trained, I think it was 801 people, not

         25  installed, but you know 801 people on 126 different
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          2  devices, so I'm just wondering what the original

          3  goals were there?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: It was

          5  budgetarily based, it was based upon the overall

          6  amount of money that was going to be distributed to

          7  us, to help coordinate the program.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So you don't know

          9  about the 2000 --

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Again,

         11  whatever that initial budget was.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I was just curious

         13  why the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene

         14  wasn't part of the task force?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: In fact

         16  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene was in

         17  fact involved in the initial meetings of the task

         18  force. Once we began the distribution process of the

         19  devices we worked as a liaison and coordinated with

         20  each of the individual agencies that got the

         21  defibrillators from us and through the Fire

         22  Department.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And then, and

         24  we're going to hear from them later, but from OEM's

         25  perspective, just lay out a little bit in more
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          2  detail what role you have as it relates to the

          3  Department of Education, and their state

          4  requirement.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: The

          6  Department of Education reached out for us, we spoke

          7  to them about the standards that were required, the

          8  application process that was necessary, how we

          9  provided our overall coordination of the program,

         10  how it operated, the certification levels that were

         11  necessary for use, the kinds of devices that were

         12  out there on the market for them to look at, and

         13  essentially a number of other things that would go

         14  into the development of a program.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: He's the very

         16  youngest committee member, he has perfect attendance

         17  so far, Dilan Grannis Moskowitz.

         18                 So, you're kind of helping but it's

         19  really their own --

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: -- Thing

         22  so-to-speak.

         23                 And do you know what your goals are

         24  for this year?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Yes, I
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          2  think we defined it in here. We have 20 more

          3  defibrillators to produce, and then that is

          4  essentially I think the end of the funding for these

          5  defibrillators, and I'll doublecheck that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. And those 20

          7  -- oh, I'm sorry. Go ahead.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: And in

          9  addition to that, we have gotten some discretionary

         10  funds from one of the Council members who we'll be

         11  working with to take some of their discretionary

         12  funding and use that if he continues to offer that

         13  to us to deploy some additional on top of that.

         14                 We had to work out some agreements

         15  through the DCAS and through his office to make that

         16  happen.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Do you know where

         18  those 20 AEDs are going to go?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Yes.

         20  We're looking at the Department for the Aging,

         21  elderly centers, where large groups of elderly

         22  people come together. We'll go out and do some

         23  audits of those particular institutions. In fact, we

         24  actually did some yesterday. We'll go out and meet

         25  with the Department for the Aging, as we have in the
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          2  past, and deploy it to the elderly population in the

          3  centers.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Is there one in

          5  City Hall?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Yes,

          7  there is.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Where is it?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: There's

         10  one downstairs at the security desk at City Hall.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Not that I'm

         12  planning on needing one but it's good to know.

         13                 Council Member Oddo.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

         15  Chair. Just let the record reflect that the Speaker

         16  and I and you were instrumental in getting a

         17  defibrillator placed in the Minority Leader's Office

         18  back in May, because up until that point we were

         19  under the impression that there wasn't one in City

         20  Hall.

         21                 Ed, what's the product that --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Never let it be

         23  said that we're not bipartisan.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: We certainly

         25  are. And -- I'm going to let that go. I'm already in
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          2  enough trouble, so I'll leave that one alone.

          3                 Ed, what's the product, the company

          4  and the product? Is it just one type of

          5  defibrillator that you folks have used? Who is that

          6  product? How much does each defibrillator cost, and

          7  just explain to the Committee, how you decided and

          8  what the process was to sort of vet through the

          9  different manufacturers.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Okay, a

         11  couple of years ago, when we got the main Committee

         12  together before we began to deploy, what we did is

         13  we looked at all the models of defibrillators. The

         14  model that was chosen by the group specifically met

         15  a number of different criteria.

         16                 For example, it was identical to the

         17  defibrillators that were being used and deployed on

         18  FDNY municipal basic life support ambulances. It was

         19  identical to defibrillators being used on engine

         20  companies in the City of New York, and we felt that

         21  the continuity of the device, the sharing of

         22  information from one device into the quality

         23  assurance program that was built by the Fire

         24  Department was paramount to them collecting data for

         25  the use of these. The training would be consistent,
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          2  too, and if an FDNY basic life support ambulance

          3  crew came up to the scene and a defibrillator was in

          4  City Hall, they'd know the device and be familiar

          5  with it. There was a continuity there.

          6                 In addition, the Phillips device,

          7  which is a device we purchased, the FR2s, those

          8  devices also had interchangeability of parts with

          9  the Fire Department, the same batteries, the same

         10  pads, this way the Fire Department could provide, if

         11  we needed to, to take the defibrillator after use

         12  into their technical mechanism, fix the thing up and

         13  provide us with another device that was identical

         14  for the site until they got that rotated device

         15  checked and put back out, and download the data from

         16  it, into a system that was relatively consistent.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Are you saying

         18  that the Phillips device is the only device that

         19  you're using?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Yes,

         21  that's the only device that we're using.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And that's the

         23  device that's consistent with all of the --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: FDNY

         25  basic life support ambulances, and FDNY engine
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          2  companies use the Phillips device.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And what's the

          4  cost of each of those?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: In our

          6  package the cost was 3,000 or less, depending upon

          7  how the device was structured, and that included the

          8  pads, the batteries, the fast packs that came with

          9  it, gloves, some pocket masks, and in addition to a

         10  couple of sets of pads and six personnel being

         11  trained for every single device we purchased. Some

         12  signage that would be used to identify the location

         13  of the device, and all of those pieces, I'm sure I'm

         14  leaving out a couple of things, Councilman, but

         15  that's basically it.

         16                 In addition, the device, the Phillips

         17  device was the only device at that time that was

         18  approved for use on children.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do you do any

         20  business with Medtronics, or does the City do any

         21  business at all?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Yes. The

         23  City does do business with Medtronics. I believe

         24  that both of those companies showed us their devices

         25  at the time, and the decision to make, the decision
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          2  to buy the Phillips device isn't necessarily quality

          3  as it is as much all those other things I talked

          4  about. They're both good products I think.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Do you find that

          6  when you buy in bulk the price comes down?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And when you

          9  bought the defibrillators from Philips, there was a

         10  group discount, if you will?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: Yes, I

         12  believe so. I think we did see a considerable

         13  reduction in price back then, I don't know what

         14  they're priced for now, I don't really buy them

         15  anymore.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay. Madam

         17  Chair, both the Chairs, I just want to make sure

         18  that the record reflects that Ed Gabriel has been

         19  the point person that I've been working with on this

         20  issue for several years and he's been absolutely

         21  wonderful, but I want to thank both you and Chair

         22  Moskowitz for not allowing that line in the first

         23  paragraph to go unnoticed. And I fully expect to

         24  hear solid numbers on exactly how much money was in

         25  the budget, and how much money has been cut, and,
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          2  you know, to put Ed up front and not provide him

          3  with some of this information sort of takes this

          4  thing out of my bite, because I have a whole lot of

          5  respect for Ed, but I think that's critical

          6  information.

          7                 The fact of the matter is, there was

          8  a whole lot of money put in for this project. This

          9  is as integral a part of public safety as any other

         10  aspect and that money has been cut and I think this

         11  Committee should hear testimony on the record as to

         12  how much was there, and how much was there today.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         15  Koppell.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I'm curious

         17  as to the experience with the machines. Do you have

         18  any statistics as to how many times they have been

         19  used?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: There

         21  has not been a use of the device.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: None?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: None.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And how many

         25  do you have deployed?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: We have

          3  126 deployed.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And over what

          5  period?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: We

          7  deployed them over the last year and a half.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And yet none

          9  have been used?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL: None

         11  have been used.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Are there any

         13  anecdotal or other information as to why that is so?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GABRIEL:

         15  Anecdotally, they're there, they're assigned,

         16  everybody is aware, there are people trained. If

         17  someone requires the use, they're there to be used.

         18  We check them, we know they're there, we watch them

         19  monthly. Agencies report back to us monthly on them.

         20                 If there was a use, everyone would --

         21  it would fly through the system to us and the Fire

         22  Department that they were used?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Interesting.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If the rest of the
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          2  panel, whatever order you would like?

          3                 We've also been joined by Council

          4  Member John Liu.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Good

          6  afternoon, Chairwoman Moskowitz, Chairwoman Quinn,

          7  and the members of the Education and Health

          8  Committees.

          9                 My name is Anthony Shorris, I'm

         10  Deputy Chancellor for Operations and Planning at the

         11  New York City Department of Education. I'm here

         12  today as a representative of the Department, of

         13  course, but like you, I'm also here as a public

         14  official, concerned about this issue and, frankly,

         15  as a parent of a public school child.

         16                 And like you, I am wrestling with and

         17  continue to wrestle with how to move forward to

         18  ensure that we do what we can the best for our

         19  children, and like you, I am sometimes disappointed

         20  when progress is too slow, when the complexity of

         21  reality sometimes interferes with the clarity of

         22  vision, and like you, I'm here to make sure that we

         23  move forward on important initiatives such as this.

         24                 So, I'm here to testify on the

         25  Department of Education's implementation of the
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          2  State Education Law Section 917.

          3                 The law requires that every public

          4  school have at least one Automated External

          5  Defibrillator, an AED. The law and the State

          6  Education Department's regulations require that in

          7  addition to installing this device, each school must

          8  offer what is called a Public Access Defibrillation

          9  program, a PAD program. This is a distinction

         10  between some of the requirements in other bodies, in

         11  airports and so on.

         12                 Public Access Defibrillators are

         13  intended to be one part of an emergency response

         14  protocol that includes, obviously first calling 911

         15  and then administering CPR. The Department is now in

         16  the process of implementing the requirements of that

         17  law.

         18                 The State Legislature first enacted

         19  the law in May of 2002, and it required all school

         20  districts in the State to meet the requirements by

         21  the end of that summer.

         22                 Almost immediately the Legislature

         23  amended the law extending the implementation

         24  deadline to December 1st of last year, some three

         25  months ago.
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          2                 Regrettably, even the second

          3  extension was not enough for our Department, or, in

          4  fact, for any other major school district or local

          5  government around the state, many of which have

          6  since made progress on it as have we, but none met

          7  that deadline.

          8                 At the time that the law and its

          9  chapter amendments were passed, the Department urged

         10  the bill be modified to reflect some significant

         11  implementation issues, some of which we're still

         12  wrestling with today in which I'll talk about.

         13                 So, where are we at this moment?

         14  Despite the difficulties, which I'll talk about as

         15  of today, we've made some real progress towards

         16  establishing a program structure that will allow the

         17  AED to be placed in our schools. Using an existing

         18  DCAS City contract, as Eddie mentioned, we've

         19  purchased and already taken delivery of over 300 AED

         20  units for use in our schools, and beginning, if you

         21  can imagine, to focus where the need may be

         22  greatest, PSAL, Public School Athletic League sites.

         23                 The maximum -- more units are being

         24  delivered every week, the maximum number of units

         25  the manufacturer can supply right now is about 100 a
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          2  week. This figure is increasing each week, should

          3  run over 150 a week fairly soon. Based on our

          4  estimates, the ultimate need for AEDs will exceed

          5  3,000 units, that will make New York City's public

          6  schools the largest Public Access Defibrillator

          7  Program in the world.

          8                 Now, let me discuss the requirements

          9  of the law and some of the issues that we're working

         10  through as we develop and implement it, as required.

         11                 First, the law's basic requirement is

         12  that each public school must install an AED that can

         13  be readily accessed. We've been told by medical

         14  experts that defibrillators are most effective in a

         15  cardiac event if they're deployed on an ill person

         16  within a certain time frame, generally a few minutes

         17  from the onset of the cardiac arrest.

         18                 In order to meet this requirement,

         19  the Department recognizes that some of our school

         20  buildings will require many, many devices because of

         21  their size. And we'll need them for athletic events,

         22  away from school buildings, and to deal with

         23  buildings, and some schools with multiple buildings

         24  on campus-like settings.

         25                 AEDs must also be installed or be
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          2  available at school-sponsored curricular or

          3  extra-curricular events. That's the primary reason

          4  why we need so many, so many more than the number of

          5  school buildings that we have.

          6                 As mentioned, the units are not

          7  inexpensive, the standard costs in the contract was

          8  about $3,000 a unit, which included the six-hour

          9  training course for up to six people, again the

         10  state requirement.

         11                 Unfortunately, I think we'll be able,

         12  as was mentioned, to get that price down as the

         13  volume of our purchase so dramatically increases and

         14  we expect we'll do better on this.

         15                 The purchase alone will probably run

         16  six to seven-million dollars.

         17                 Because of the population that the

         18  school system serves, it's critical that every one

         19  of the AED devices have what are called "approved

         20  pediatric pads."

         21                 At the time the state law was enacted

         22  last year, there was actually only one manufacturer

         23  in the entire United States that had an AED device,

         24  as was mentioned a few minutes ago, that had been

         25  approved by the federal Food and Drug Administration
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          2  for use in children.

          3                 Two additional manufacturers just

          4  received FDA approval for a pediatric AED device,

          5  bringing now to three the number of vendors who make

          6  it where it can be used in a school setting, and

          7  that's all on the State's education website as of

          8  two weeks ago.

          9                 In addition to purchasing the units,

         10  secondly, the law requires that trained staff be

         11  made available at all events and all programs

         12  sponsored by the Department. That means at every

         13  athletic event, every practice, every after school

         14  program, almost every extra curricular activity held

         15  inside or outside the building must include the

         16  presence of a designated person trained on the use

         17  of the AED device.

         18                 To date, the only school sponsored

         19  extra curricular activity the state has excluded

         20  from coverage are field trips, but otherwise

         21  everything else is under the law.

         22                 The State assumes that "volunteers"

         23  would not only agree to receive this training, but

         24  that these trained volunteers would agree to stay

         25  after school.
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          2                 Our initial estimate is that for some

          3  of our bigger buildings, mostly high schools, as

          4  many as ten or 15 people will need to receive

          5  training to make sure there's coverage throughout

          6  the day and the year and obviously fewer in small

          7  facilities.

          8                 Our target populations are building

          9  principals, assistant principals, school safety

         10  agents, nurses, health aides, athletic coordinators,

         11  teachers, even custodians.

         12                 In smaller buildings, it may be as

         13  few as four to six people that need to be trained to

         14  ensure adequate coverage at all times.

         15                 But given the scale of the

         16  Department, we estimate that as many as 15,000 staff

         17  will have to be trained on the use of the AED device

         18  to comply with the requirements of the law.

         19                 Obviously, it's not realistic from a

         20  planning perspective to expect that we'll have all

         21  volunteers. It is likely the Department will have to

         22  compensate staff members to become trained to use

         23  the AED device, and we estimate it will cost a

         24  million, million plus, to pay the per session cost

         25  the way our contract workers, for the training of an
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          2  estimated 3,600 teachers, for example, who will need

          3  to become AED certified providers, as the law

          4  requires.

          5                 Obviously, that cost will grow

          6  substantially, depending on how many volunteers we

          7  get. An implementation program must also account for

          8  the fact that we have to do repeat training on a

          9  regular basis. Training has to be repeated for all

         10  15,000 staff members or so every other year, because

         11  their training certification is only valid for two

         12  years.

         13                 In addition, if a trained staff

         14  member resigns or retires or transfers, we have to

         15  train a replacement in that school.

         16                 In addition, the Department will have

         17  to pay school staff members to stay after school to

         18  provide AED coverage if no so-called volunteers

         19  agree to remain. We have to pay the teachers per

         20  session, or hourly essentially, to compensate them

         21  for any after school time.

         22                 We're still performing a review to

         23  figure out what the fiscal impact of this will be.

         24  Trying to figure out how many principals or APs or

         25  coaches could cover some of this so we have some
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          2  sense of the total magnitude of our costs here, but

          3  they will be obviously significant.

          4                 Our ability to attract sufficient

          5  staff to become trained in using the AEDs is also

          6  hampered by the task itself. Potential trainees need

          7  to understand that the AEDs are designed to detect

          8  when a person's heart should be shocked, and the

          9  devices we are buying cannot shock the heart

         10  arbitrarily, nor can the devices be manipulated to

         11  shock on command, they are protected that way.

         12                 However, the statute expects lay

         13  people like us to perform what appears to some, or

         14  could appear, to be a medical function.

         15                 In most instances the staff will be

         16  indemnified by the City of New York in the event of

         17  a lawsuit, and the State extends good samaritan

         18  protection in some cases, but we realize that many

         19  staff will nonetheless be hesitant to undertake the

         20  responsibility like this, with potential legal and

         21  obviously human consequence.

         22                 It's necessary for there to be a

         23  substantial public education campaign on how the

         24  devices work before we can effectively recruit

         25  sufficient staff to be provided, as whether or not
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          2  we even pay them.

          3                 Third, the state law and the

          4  regulations require that every school site register

          5  as a public access defibrillation program site. In

          6  order to register as a program like that, there have

          7  to be both operational and medical oversight to

          8  ensure that the system has functional equipment and

          9  trained personnel available.

         10                 What that means is for every AED unit

         11  deployed there has to be regular maintenance, as

         12  well as regular testing of the unit to make sure it

         13  works properly.

         14                 The program would be similar to the

         15  kind of inspection testing certification that we

         16  have in place already for fire alarms and fire

         17  extinguishers, except AEDs require much more

         18  frequent inspection and testing because it's a

         19  medical device.

         20                 AED units should be checked regularly

         21  and there has to be paperwork submitting again

         22  according to the regs that certifies it's been

         23  reviewed and tested.

         24                 The program requires medical

         25  oversight by emergency medical doctors who sign
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          2  collaborative agreements with the Department to

          3  develop and ensure sound emergency protocols and

          4  participate in the state's quality assurance

          5  program, and review the documentation for submission

          6  to the state's Regional EMS Council.

          7                 Full implementation of the program

          8  also requires there be procedures to maintain,

          9  review and inspect the training rosters of the

         10  15,000 people who need to be trained to arrange for

         11  a replacement, should anyone leave or retire.

         12                 The program also has to track and

         13  certify the location of all 3,000 devices at 1,200

         14  schools and 200 athletic programs and ensure it's

         15  available to all emergency medical staff.

         16                 These responsibilities alone are a

         17  pretty large undertaking requiring hiring of

         18  personnel that obviously will now be dedicated just

         19  to the implementation of this program.

         20                 Over the past couple of months, the

         21  Department has been exploring any other way to try

         22  and undertake the enormous administrative obligation

         23  here. Because of the magnitude of implementing a

         24  public access defibrillation program throughout the

         25  school system and because our core mission is
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          2  obviously education, our first step in

          3  implementation was to see if any other City agency

          4  could do this for us.

          5                 But we've been told, and you can

          6  imagine, that the scale of this program is so great

          7  that there actually, it's too large for any other

          8  agency to take over the program for us. But I'd like

          9  to say that every one of agencies, has provided, as

         10  you heard from OEM, a lot of help to us and guidance

         11  and helping us think about how to do it.

         12                 As a result of all these discussions,

         13  and after looking over the regulations in the law,

         14  we've made a decision to outsource program

         15  administration and training to outside health

         16  services, or emergency services providers.

         17                 Last week we released an RFP for

         18  total quality management or outsourcing of our

         19  defibrillator program. It was sent to all the

         20  providers registered with the State as capable of

         21  doing this. We think that by outsourcing these

         22  responsibilities to a large, high quality

         23  organization, we can ensure that we meet the

         24  requirements of the law, while fulfilling the Mayor

         25  and the Chancellor's goal that DOE no longer assume
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          2  responsibilities that are not core to our mission or

          3  our skills.

          4                 Last fall, the Conference of Big 5

          5  School Districts, representing all the other major

          6  districts in the State, of which we're obviously a

          7  member, discussed our concerns with the State

          8  Legislature, some of them suggested that we get

          9  assistance in paying for the cost of the AEDs from

         10  the State Legislature that mandated it. The problem

         11  of course is that there is much more to the program

         12  than just the purchase of the device.

         13                 As the Mayor has said many times

         14  since he took control of the school system, the

         15  Department of Education needs to be focused on its

         16  core mission of educating children.

         17                 The DOE is of course responsible for

         18  the safety and well-being of all of its students and

         19  staff, and in partnerships with the Department of

         20  Health and Mental Hygiene provides a lot of medical

         21  service in many of our schools, and, obviously, this

         22  law is beneficial in that it will increase our

         23  ability to respond to some potential child health

         24  emergencies, it also is going to divert resources

         25  from other requirements, and obviously, as you know
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          2  we're dealing, wrestling with other financial

          3  constraints, not the least of which is the State

          4  Executive Budget that proposed reducing resources to

          5  the City by nearly half a billion dollars.

          6                 So, as I mentioned earlier, we've

          7  already contracted a manufacturer to provide the

          8  units, 300 of them are delivered already, additional

          9  units are coming every week, but I just want to make

         10  sure it's clear that no units can really be

         11  installed or used until we've trained people and met

         12  the requirements of the state law.

         13                 To put them in the schools without

         14  training or oversight would be unsafe and not legal.

         15                 We'll continue to work diligently to

         16  meet the requirements of the state law, there are,

         17  as I outlined, a number of considerable, financial

         18  and logistical challenges that we're aware of. The

         19  Chancellor has made very clear the Department will

         20  meet its responsibilities under the law, and we

         21  intend to honor that commitment.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Just before we

         24  hear from Commissioner Bassett, I just want to say

         25  that unfortunately the Office of Legislative Affairs
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          2  is not able to walk across the hallway and check on

          3  that number, which I'm distressed by, but we were

          4  able to call across the street, in the age of modern

          5  technology, and check with our finance staff who

          6  have confirmed Council Member Moskowitz'

          7  recollection that there was $2 million in the budget

          8  originally, not for the -- this is not relating to

          9  the Department of Education, relating to the

         10  Department of Citywide Administrative Services and

         11  the testimony given by the Office of Emergency

         12  Management, there had been $2 million in the budget

         13  in FY 2002, that that money was originally proposed

         14  to be totally eliminated from the budget through, as

         15  our Finance staff recalled, through the advocacy of

         16  the City Council $500,000 was put back in the

         17  budget.  Originally the 2 million was allotted for

         18  about 800 AEDs, so presently it's $500,000, thanks

         19  to the City Council, back in the budget, and as the

         20  Commissioner said earlier, they're only going to

         21  finish using the money that is in there. So, I trust

         22  that if we're inaccurate about that information

         23  somebody will let us know that, but we are, it

         24  probably would have been more accurate for the OEM

         25  testimony to say that they are enthusiastically
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          2  moving forward with the funding that the Council is

          3  able to restore after it had been eliminated by

          4  Mayor Bloomberg in the budget.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: First I wanted

          7  to just make a comment before I had a series of

          8  questions, and I wanted to state for the record that

          9  the Education Committee requested from DOE a very

         10  detailed set of questions and this is the first time

         11  that we have gotten in more or less real time, and I

         12  want to thank Chancellor Klein and Michelle

         13  Goldstein for getting us this information. It's very

         14  helpful to get it before the hearing, and I

         15  appreciate that. And it was quite detailed and was

         16  very helpful in preparing this hearing. So, thank

         17  you very much.

         18                 Obviously one of the emphases here is

         19  going forward, how to constructively deal with the

         20  limited, or deal with the fiscal constraints while

         21  complying with the law, but it seems to me that it's

         22  important in our oversight role to spend some time

         23  looking backwards and to really understand what

         24  happened, why there was a failure to comply with the

         25  law and you've shed, you know, some light on the
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          2  difficulties of complying, not only because of the

          3  system being big, but it sounds like there are some

          4  problems with the law. I'm particularly troubled by

          5  the lack of exemption for liability for people who

          6  use it when it's in other context, the good

          7  samaritan law applies, and it sounds like we need to

          8  amend the law so that it is more easily and sensibly

          9  implemented.

         10                 I would also say that I would urge

         11  the Chancellor and DOE to work with both the Chair

         12  of the Health Committee and the Chair of the

         13  Education Committee while we spend a fair amount of

         14  time being demanding, in terms of our oversight

         15  role, we're also willing to be helpful and want to

         16  work with you when there are problems, you know,

         17  very technical problems perhaps with state law. They

         18  should not prevent us, of course, from complying

         19  with the law, but we are happy to lobby Albany as

         20  well to make changes that are sensible and I would

         21  urge you to involve us in this process because we

         22  could be helpful.

         23                 But, so, bear with me. I want to go

         24  back, and then look at currently what you're doing.

         25  You say, Tony, in your testimony that regrettably
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          2  even the second extension was not enough time for

          3  the Department or any major school district to

          4  implement the law's requirement. And that's a rather

          5  -- I don't doubt the truth of that stated as such,

          6  but surely that does not mean that you couldn't have

          7  begun to implement. I mean, in fact, you currently

          8  are not implementing it all at once. If I understand

          9  your testimony correctly, you're starting with 300

         10  AEDs and working up, and will be in compliance

         11  hopefully very, very shortly. I fail to understand

         12  why you couldn't have begun earlier, so that you

         13  would be in compliance sooner. Could you comment on

         14  that?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, as I

         16  said, it's understandable, the frustration of

         17  everyone in making sure that laws like this that are

         18  complex in implementation, and although relatively

         19  clear in description don't get implemented so

         20  quickly.

         21                 The Department started actually

         22  trying to deal with the law as soon as it was

         23  passed, passed in May of last year. We clearly, this

         24  is not our business, had no familiarity or dealings

         25  ourselves with how to do defibrillators, and
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          2  immediately started reaching out to see where we

          3  could get some help from it.

          4                 We started, as I mentioned, trying to

          5  see if we could find someone else to do this in our

          6  schools, so whether Fire, or OEM, or somebody else

          7  who did stuff like this.  We had a lot of those

          8  discussions in May and June to see if it was

          9  possible to arrange that.

         10                 By July we were beginning to get our

         11  arms around this, our own staff was trying to lay

         12  out some of the issues and options, including

         13  working with another agency to do it. By August it

         14  was pretty clear that we would have to find some

         15  outside help beyond the City government to help us

         16  on this. We began pursuing some options with some

         17  outside consulting firms to lay out procurement

         18  options and also began proscribing and understanding

         19  the potential impact of this financially and

         20  operationally on us.

         21                 In September and October, again

         22  continuing to pursue this, we began meetings not

         23  only with the City agencies but also with what's

         24  called a Regional Emergency Medical Service Council,

         25  that's the body that the State requires provide
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          2  oversight of this, and understanding what their

          3  requirements were actually that were going to be

          4  imposed on us.

          5                 By then it was also clear to us, this

          6  became clear to us, this wasn't about buying

          7  machines. The buying machines is hard, but not the

          8  hardest part. It's the development of training, and,

          9  in fact, understanding that you can't actually use

         10  and shouldn't use any of the machines until you've

         11  had the training. And that is where it began to be

         12  clear that the scale of this was much greater than

         13  we had understood, even at the onset of this.

         14  Because the state rules on this are different than

         15  in other cases where it just requires the purchase

         16  and placement of a machine.

         17                 Throughout October and November, we

         18  actually started the implementation program, and we

         19  did again look to see whether there was any way to

         20  get outsourcing to other agencies or others of some

         21  management of the program, understanding no one else

         22  was going to do it, that it would fall to us to do,

         23  but to see if there were any other ways to deal with

         24  the management of the program. And, again, the scale

         25  of it is very daunting, and not only in numbers of
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          2  devices, the 3,000 or so sites, but the training

          3  magnitude is enormous.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Wasn't the

          5  training component clear from the day the law was

          6  passed?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Again, we

          8  didn't have any familiarity with this. It was the

          9  law and regulations that followed it that made clear

         10  the level of training that was required, in fact --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, it's not

         12  in the actual law?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I don't

         14  want to say for sure. I haven't read that law, you

         15  know, in a long time. I think the regulations

         16  specified the numbers and levels of training that

         17  would be required before anyone could use it.

         18                 Soon after, November, December, we

         19  actually went to market to begin buying

         20  defibrillators. This is where we ran into this other

         21  issue which is that there are very few vendors for

         22  this. As of now there were three, at the time there

         23  were only one. We also had to do the same

         24  decision-making process that was mentioned before by

         25  OEM about trying to make sure we had a machine that
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          2  not only met the needs of kids, which limited us to

          3  one vendor at that time, but also was standard with

          4  what Fire and others were doing, because, again,

          5  whatever we do, we want to make sure it's integrated

          6  with what other agencies do, so that if a fireman is

          7  in the building, they would know how to use our

          8  machine and it would be obvious and not a second

          9  thought on how to deal with that, and obviously

         10  there are cost efficiencies too.

         11                 So, the orders were placed and the

         12  shipments are beginning and we're also now working

         13  through some issues, you can imagine, with our

         14  unions and others about the training and financial

         15  cost that will be associated with that, and

         16  beginning to try and see whether there will be in

         17  fact volunteers to do this, or whether the financial

         18  impact will now manifest itself.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You know,

         20  obviously I'm sympathetic to the challenge, but when

         21  December 1, 2002 came and went, what was the kind of

         22  state of mind, if you will, at DOE, this was before,

         23  obviously, these three deaths? I mean, does DOE have

         24  the reaction of, oh, my God, we're not in compliance

         25  with the law, what are we going to do? Because it
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          2  sort of seems like there's a lethargy, even though

          3  there was a flurry of activity to try and figure out

          4  how to comply. It seemed like December 1 came and

          5  went, and there, certainly I don't recall any media

          6  attention, or you know, any statements that there's

          7  lack of compliance and so forth; could you say

          8  anything about that?

          9                 And, of course, I'm interested in

         10  this, not only because of the non-compliance here,

         11  but I believe there's non-compliance on other issues

         12  for the same sorts of reasons that there are

         13  challenges - unfunded mandates, the work rules and

         14  so forth, but I'd sort of like to understand, when

         15  the deadline comes and goes, do people at DOE sit

         16  around, sort of saying, oh my God, what are we going

         17  to do?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I think we

         19  were pretty aware of both the need and the urgency

         20  to implement the program. I think what's -- and as

         21  you said, there are many mandates imposed on the

         22  Department of Education, federal mandates, state

         23  mandates, local mandates, and all of them we have to

         24  take seriously, that's our job, is to implement

         25  those. That said, it is clear that some of them are
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          2  much more complicated than others to implement, and

          3  laws that affect our core operating mission are

          4  plenty hard for us to do. Laws that affect things

          5  that we have -- territories that we've never been in

          6  are, frankly, particularly difficult for us, and

          7  laws that affect areas we've never been in of this

          8  scale that could involve tens of thousands of people

          9  and tens of millions of dollars, do in fact cause us

         10  a lot of stress on how to implement them well and

         11  efficiently, and we do in fact look hard to see if

         12  there's something we're missing, is there a better

         13  way to do this? Is there another partner we can find

         14  to implement this, and we are in the middle of a

         15  wholesale reform in the school system, and focused

         16  on the instructional program that we have, and

         17  that's what we try and keep as focused on as we can.

         18  With that said, the law is the law, and we are going

         19  to do our best to comply with it, this and every

         20  other mandate imposed on the Department.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You said there

         22  was a lot of thought and discussion, I'm a little

         23  confused by the timing. The DOE provided us with the

         24  November 25th memo, implementation memo, this was

         25  before the RFP, the outsource option. November 25th
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          2  strikes me as awfully close to December 1, to be

          3  figuring out how you're going to implement. Are you

          4  suggesting it was somehow only finalized then, but

          5  -- and the memo itself doesn't exactly look like a

          6  real implementation memo, it looks like a slightly

          7  theoretical implementation memo. I'm a little

          8  troubled by the date.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, I

         10  just tried to walk you through a little bit some of

         11  the activities that were taking place before, and

         12  obviously I'm not going to grind you through every

         13  meeting and every internal memo that goes on as we

         14  try and deal with this and other requirements. It's

         15  fair to say there was a level of activity throughout

         16  the period from the moment the law was passed. It's

         17  also fair to say it wasn't enough, and the law

         18  didn't get implemented on the schedule it should

         19  have. This is awfully true.

         20                 Whether or not the November 25th memo

         21  was deep enough or challenging enough, I don't even

         22  know or recall. I think what matters to us now is

         23  that we are trying as best we can to make sure we

         24  comply as quickly as we can.

         25                 It's clear we didn't comply and it's
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          2  clear we didn't make a December 1 deadline. The fact

          3  that nobody else did, the fact that it was big and

          4  complicated, all those things are interesting but

          5  not ultimately exculpatory. We have to meet the

          6  requirements of the law, we understand that, and we

          7  will.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: One last

          9  question, then I'm going to turn to my other

         10  colleagues.

         11                 You mentioned in your testimony a

         12  number of concerns you had about the law, and as I

         13  understand it, DOE was working with Albany to try

         14  and in some way approve or amend some of these

         15  provisions.

         16                 We had asked for, and one of the

         17  things we didn't get, was we had asked for a memo,

         18  or the letters or something that enumerated the

         19  various concerns; is that something that -- partly

         20  because we'd like to be helpful, if there are, you

         21  know, this good samaritan provision, this seems like

         22  a no-brainer, it seems like a terrible thing to not

         23  exempt others from this; is that something that you

         24  can provide the Committee with?

         25                 In other words, I'd like to know
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          2  every technical, every little problem you have with

          3  the law, that's not to say we'll necessarily agree

          4  on every point, but I'd like to see what the

          5  concerns are. Because as I understand it, it could

          6  still be amended, right? There's nothing --

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I assume

          8  like any other state law, sure, of course.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, is that

         10  something that --

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Oh, we'd

         12  be happy to do that --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: To provide

         15  you with our technical --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I would

         17  appreciate if there are existing letters, or if not,

         18  if you could get kind of a detailed critique of the

         19  law, and I would certainly circulate that among my

         20  colleagues and see if we can be helpful.

         21                 Let me turn to Chairwoman Quinn,

         22  because I'm sure she has questions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Set aside the

         24  prospect for a moment of making changes to the law,

         25  which obviously I just want to underscore what
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          2  Chairperson Moskowitz said, you know, if there are,

          3  and it certainly sounds like there are, provisions

          4  in the State law which are not appropriate or et

          5  cetera, we would want to do all that we could to

          6  help get the State Legislature to make those

          7  changes.

          8                 That said, let's set that aside for a

          9  second, because sometimes Albany doesn't do exactly

         10  what we want in the way we want them to do it.

         11                 If the law stays the way it is, what

         12  is your sense of when DOE would be in actual full

         13  compliance with the law?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: My guess

         15  is we're going to begin, as I said, we're receiving

         16  the units, the key next step is to get the training

         17  done. The training is not going to be done all at

         18  once. We'd like to start the training I think

         19  probably in six weeks or so. It will begin rolling

         20  through the system. We're going to try and follow

         21  some priority order based on risk, you know, the

         22  sports events, older kids, et cetera, that training,

         23  obviously then we have a summer break, so we're

         24  going to be able to complete it before the end of

         25  the summer, and then we'll continue the training
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          2  into the first few months of the next school year.

          3                 So, depending, we have this RFP out

          4  to see if we can find somebody with enormous

          5  training resources, if they can do it faster,

          6  simultaneously, that would be better.

          7                 We've been talking to the American

          8  Heart Association, and we've been talking to some of

          9  the other non-profits, Red Cross, that do large

         10  scale training to see if we can get a faster rate,

         11  that's really what's going to constrain it, is how

         12  many volunteers we can get, how we'll find a way to

         13  pay the ones who don't volunteer, and then what the

         14  training pipeline is going to be. As fast as we can

         15  train them we will. The machines will all be here by

         16  the end of the school year.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So you're thinking

         18  somewhere around, you know, end of 2003, beginning

         19  of 2004?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: We could

         21  be eight months late or nine months late. It's

         22  possible, yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: What do you

         24  anticipate the total cost being to comply?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, this
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          2  is the hardest issue. Some of the costs are clear,

          3  buying machines has a price and it will be a certain

          4  number of millions of dollars. The training of the

          5  contract for the people to train will be a certain

          6  number of millions of dollars. The biggest question

          7  is going to be making sure that we have coverage

          8  throughout the school day, including late into the

          9  evenings, when everything from the Chess Club to

         10  sports could be going on.

         11                 If we don't have that coverage, we're

         12  not supposed to have the devices used.

         13                 If we have that coverage, there's a

         14  pretty good likelihood we'll have to pay for it.

         15                 If we have to pay for it, it could

         16  easily run many tens of millions of dollars a year.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's exclusive

         18  of the purchase, or that includes the purchase

         19  price?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Again, the

         21  requirement under the state, again, that's what's a

         22  little different from some of the other laws --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Is that

         25  there will always be somebody present who is a
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          2  certified trained person, otherwise not adhering to

          3  the program.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: In a big

          6  building, where there's a lot of stuff going on

          7  after school, there need to be many people going on,

          8  because, again, the device isn't useful if you have

          9  to travel through giant buildings to get to it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: So if you

         12  have multiple devices and multiple trained people

         13  and they require compensation, we would have to pay

         14  for that. They could volunteer. We hope some will.

         15  Some will be there anyway, right? Could be the coach

         16  of the team who is there anyway.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Right.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: So, that's

         19  why I'm hesitant to give you a number, because

         20  depending on how many folks volunteer, depending on

         21  how many of them are already trained and being paid

         22  to be there anyway, that would reflect the cost. At

         23  the worst case, if additional individuals have to be

         24  paid, it would be many tens of millions of dollars.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.
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          2                 Council Member Oddo.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

          4  Chair.

          5                 Deputy Chancellor, can you just

          6  clarify one thing for us? There have been reports

          7  that the City actually applied for an extension and

          8  you testified that in fact it was the State

          9  Legislature on its own that amended the lawsuit? Can

         10  you just clarify that?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I think

         12  there is a couple of issues. One, there is always a

         13  general concern about whether it could be done.

         14                 The original law, the State

         15  Legislature said it had to be done by September, and

         16  then every locality was given a formal waiver to go

         17  to December 1st, if you apply. You had to write a

         18  letter.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So the City did

         20  actually apply for a waiver?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: So, in

         22  August of 2002, we met the requirements of the law

         23  saying we wanted to implement our authority to go

         24  from September 1 to December 1.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And lots of
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          2  other jurisdictions did it as well?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: All the

          4  major.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay.

          6                 There's so much in the testimony to

          7  try to vet through, but there are a couple of things

          8  that I take great exception with. Now, I think the

          9  thing that strikes me most is your portrayal that

         10  these machines are sort of high maintenance. And I

         11  think you're going to hear lots of testimony after

         12  you're done that indicate that that in fact is not

         13  the case. I mean, you talk about how much more

         14  frequent inspection and testing protocols than other

         15  than fire extinguishers and you talk about regular

         16  maintenance, and I don't subscribe to that point of

         17  view, and I think the manufacturers and I think the

         18  folks who use these life-saving devices would take

         19  great exception to that. You know, they had the

         20  five-year lithium batteries, I have a defibrillator

         21  on the side of the dais here, and I think that,

         22  frankly, it borders on a bit disingenuous when you

         23  portray how complicated actual maintenance of the

         24  machines is.

         25                 Do you care to comment on my
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          2  skepticism?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: No, I

          4  don't actually -- the machines are fabulous

          5  technology and are an enormous accomplishment and

          6  change from what they were just a few years ago. So,

          7  I'd be the last one to say I think they're anything

          8  but terrific technology.

          9                 The requirements, in some respects I

         10  don't disagree with you, I think some of the

         11  requirements are not so much generated by the

         12  machine itself, as by the requirements of running a

         13  program matching state regulatory requirements,

         14  which may in fact differ from what the machine

         15  literally requires. It may follow Chairman

         16  Moskowitz' and Quinn's question as to whether there

         17  should be amendments to some of the requirements in

         18  the State laws or regulations. It's not convincing

         19  to me that that's the requirement of the machine, so

         20  much as a requirement of the law or reg.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I am not

         22  minimizing in any way the difficulty or the breath

         23  of putting a program of this size, and although what

         24  I will say is I think you'll probably hear some more

         25  testimony speaking to the people issue that
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          2  downplays some of the difficulty of actual training.

          3                 The other issue I take a little bit

          4  of exception to is this emphasis on the importance

          5  of the continuity between agencies, in terms of

          6  using the same machine.

          7                 And, again, I think it falsely

          8  portrays these machines as being very difficult to

          9  use. That, in fact, is not the case and there is

         10  much scholarship and data out there indicating that

         11  children having been trained with these devices can

         12  operate them within ten or 15 seconds of the adults,

         13  and I think this continuity issue is, again, borders

         14  on a bit disingenuous.

         15                 These are simple machines to use,

         16  yes, of course, they require training, and I don't

         17  see the continuity issue as an overriding factor.

         18  And I raise this issue because I want to get to the

         19  decision about which product was used.

         20                 You talked about one of the reasons

         21  for the delay was because there was only one

         22  manufacturer at the time. Did you reach out to the

         23  other manufacturers and have conversations with them

         24  and ask them when they would have a product on the

         25  market that you would be able to use?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Let me

          3  just go through those issues just kind of one at a

          4  time. On the continuity issue, in other words, the

          5  need to use one machine, it's common. Again, this is

          6  really not our area of expertise on this, and,

          7  obviously, the Council member is much more familiar

          8  with the substance of it than we are. We, on issues

          9  like that, defer to the logic of people who know

         10  this better.

         11                 As you heard, OEM made a decision

         12  that it was a good idea to have continuity among

         13  City agencies, and in discussions with them and

         14  other City agencies it struck us that that same

         15  logic pertained to us and we had some sense from

         16  them if they felt that was a good idea, for just the

         17  same reasons that you just heard described.

         18                 On the issue of training, again, I

         19  don't disagree with you. I think these machines have

         20  enormously changed so that even kids sometimes can

         21  use them. But again I want to separate, as I

         22  mentioned before, the difference between what the

         23  machine itself requires, which may actually be

         24  rather less than what the state law and regulation

         25  required, which specifies a certain number of hours
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          2  of training. And I don't disagree with you, my

          3  suspicion is a lot of us could be trained in a lot

          4  less than six hours on this machine. I don't know

          5  the reason for that requirement, I personally can't

          6  assess the validity of it, but I do know again, as

          7  long as it stands as a requirement, then we'll have

          8  to address that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I appreciate

         10  that, and I certainly -- when Chair Moskowitz gets

         11  the detail information of the specific objections

         12  from you, I, too, would like to look at that.

         13  Although, I think even if I stipulate that that

         14  indeed was correct, I'm not sure if that explains

         15  the level of delay. And I happen to, my personal

         16  opinion is I think there was a -- part of the reason

         17  for the delay, and it's not in any of the text of

         18  your testimony, is there was sort of a lack of

         19  urgency on this issue, and I understand that you

         20  folks have taken on lots of different things. I

         21  don't know if it justifies that lack of urgency, but

         22  that's for a debate for another day.

         23                 If I could go back to the continuity

         24  issue for one second. The reason why I'm concerned

         25  about that is because in deciding as to which
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          2  machines and how much you're paying for these

          3  machines, you said in the testimony I think that

          4  you're paying $3,000 a unit. I have in front of me a

          5  sheet that has prices for New York State schools on

          6  four different products. The Phillips machine is

          7  actually the most expensive, but I have it listed

          8  here around $2,300.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: As I

         10  mentioned, as Eddie had said, the price the City has

         11  on its existing contracting, because we wanted to

         12  get started fast, we wanted to work off their

         13  existing contract, was at three. I actually agree

         14  with you, I think that both because of the volume

         15  and when we restructure this -- I think, as I

         16  mentioned, we're going to get that price down very

         17  substantially, probably to the order of magnitude --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But you only

         19  started buying them relatively recently so there

         20  really wasn't a rush to go out to buy them.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, the

         22  issue is, as you mentioned, we're not in compliance

         23  with the law and we need to move as fast as we

         24  possibly can. We do want to use the existing

         25  contracts that are in place that the City set up,
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          2  both because they were there and available to us,

          3  and also because they met that other issue of

          4  continuity, which may or may not be substantively

          5  right --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But using the

          7  existing contract should have resulted in you

          8  obtaining the machines quicker, no? So, we're paying

          9  more by using the existing contracts, we didn't

         10  derive any benefit in terms of actually acquiring

         11  them.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, it's

         13  not clear to me that had we rebid with new specs, et

         14  cetera, it might have actually taken awhile to do

         15  that. So, actually, in general it's helpful if the

         16  City leverages its buying and uses existing

         17  contracts and doesn't require the machinery to be

         18  redone on procurement. That said, if we can get a

         19  better price on it, through bigger volume

         20  purchasing, we definitely should.

         21                 If it is recommended that by other

         22  agencies involved in this that there's other ways to

         23  do this, we'll be happy to do that, we have no

         24  particular interest in one company or another, it's

         25  not our thing.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Two last very

          3  quick things, because I know my colleagues have

          4  questions.

          5                 The RFP that you issued for the total

          6  quality management; when was that issued?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I think we

          8  issued the RFP --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Last week. I'm

         10  sorry, it says last week.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I think it

         12  was just recently, right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I mean, I'm

         14  confused as to the timing of issuing that RFP.

         15  Wouldn't that RFP, shouldn't that RFP have been

         16  issued months and months ago?

         17                 And I can just imagine the scenario

         18  that you haven't really focused on this issue until

         19  after these three tragedies, and now you find

         20  yourself in a situation where there's a spotlight on

         21  you, and then you try to figure out and you scramble

         22  what to do and you realize that this is an enormous

         23  task and now what do we do? Well, let's issue an RFP

         24  to get somebody in here to do that. Why wasn't this

         25  RFP issued early on when you first realized back in
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          2  May how difficult it would be to implement a program

          3  of this size in New York City?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, the

          5  reason I kind of walked through that chronology is

          6  to show you that we actually did have some learning

          7  to do on this, that's for sure. The moment the law

          8  was passed we had to begin understanding why this is

          9  different than other defibrillator laws, what the

         10  requirements were in terms of training.

         11                 I did, as I mentioned, try and go

         12  through some of the other approaches we looked at,

         13  whether it was partnering with other agencies,

         14  whether it was partnering with other non-profits,

         15  was there anyone else out there that could do this

         16  for us? It was clear we didn't have the expertise,

         17  and nor arguably should we, to implement a program

         18  of this scale and certainly on that time frame.

         19                 So, we went through a couple of

         20  different scenarios. Other agencies managing, other

         21  agencies providing, et cetera, it's just clear, it

         22  just dwarfs any other agency program. And then,

         23  obviously, an RFP has to be written, which is in

         24  this case different than anything we have ever

         25  written before.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But couldn't and

          3  shouldn't those decisions have been made in

          4  September or October?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I never

          6  argued, Councilman -- it's clear, we were not in

          7  compliance and we needed to have been in

          8  compliance.  I'm very well aware of that. We are

          9  where we are, we're trying to do this as quickly as

         10  we can. We think we have an approach that will work.

         11  It will work slower than we would have liked, and

         12  anyone would like, but we think it will work.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

         14  Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We have been

         16  joined by Council Member Yvette Clarke, from

         17  Brooklyn, and Council Member Kendall Stewart.

         18                 Council Member Koppell I believe has

         19  a question.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I notice you

         21  say you bought 300, how many others have you

         22  ordered? How many more have you ordered?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I may have

         24  misspoken. We received delivery of about 300.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. How
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          2  many have you actually contracted for?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I think we

          4  have a process in place to get all 3,000 of them.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: All 3,000?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Have you

          8  committed to buying all 3,000?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: We're

         10  doing an order per week to make sure --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Now, how many

         12  of the 300 have been put in place?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: They have

         14  not been put in place, Councilman, no.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So wouldn't

         16  it be wise, sir, with all due respect, since you

         17  haven't even started the training yet, to stop

         18  ordering more machines for several reasons:

         19                 First of all, Councilman Oddo pointed

         20  out, which I didn't know before he asked, that the

         21  pricings have come down.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Secondly, in

         24  this fast-moving technology world, it may well be by

         25  the time you get ready to install the new machines,
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          2  there will be better ones, because technology in

          3  this world changes so rapidly.

          4                 I would make a very strong

          5  suggestion, sir, that you stop buying them until you

          6  implement, unless they can be used usefully as desks

          7  or door stops or something like that.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, as I

          9  mentioned, we actually plan to begin the training on

         10  the machines in about six weeks.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: So, those

         13  machines that are in will be the ones installed and

         14  that people will be trained themselves --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But how many

         16  are you going to be able to train every week?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, the

         18  pace of delivery runs --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, no,

         20  training. Do you know --

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I

         22  understand what you're saying.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: How many

         24  people are you going to be able to train every week?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: The answer
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          2  to that depends a little bit on what vendors answer

          3  in the RFP that I mentioned we have out.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: They can

          6  train broadly, we should be able to actually get

          7  ahead of where we can get the machines delivered. To

          8  answer narrowly, then you're right, we'll have a

          9  constraint.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: That's a good

         11  if. And my suggestion would be, since you haven't

         12  trained anybody yet, that you do this in a logical

         13  way and not produce a warehouse full of machines,

         14  because I was being a little facetious when I

         15  suggested using them as doorstops, that you have

         16  this whole reservoir of machines that you get, once

         17  you start the process going, fine, but to both spend

         18  the money and store them and possibly lose savings

         19  you might get, it makes just no sense to me at all.

         20                 In my opinion, you, if you're in

         21  charge of this, I think that this afternoon you

         22  ought to send out a notice and say stop, because

         23  having machines -- and let me say, there have been

         24  many instances when government has stockpiled huge

         25  numbers of equipment and then never used it. Let's
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          2  get these things used first because we order 3,000

          3  of them and find that they're either bought for too

          4  much money or are obsolete.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, I

          6  think the point is fair, the last thing we need to

          7  do when we're buying this much and spending this

          8  much money is spend any more than we have to.

          9                 I think we have some optimism that we

         10  will get some big vendors in that can do large scale

         11  training.

         12                 Since there will be a number of

         13  people trained at each site and there will be many

         14  machines at each site, there's some economies of

         15  that, that they don't have to train lots of people

         16  all over the place, and since the machines are

         17  coming at 100 or so a week, by the time the training

         18  begins, there may only be 5 or 6, 700 machines

         19  available. If that's the case and we can train

         20  enough people in those particularly large scale

         21  places, because we're going to start in high school,

         22  which are the biggest, and where we'll have the most

         23  machines.

         24                 So, it may, we're hoping, be possible

         25  to keep a pace with what we're ordering and training
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          2  people on.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: When is the

          4  RFP returnable?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Help me

          6  out. When is the RFP returnable? March 6th, I'm

          7  sorry.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I think it

          9  would be useful, since we're into this, Madam Chair,

         10  or Chairs, that you give a report as to how that's

         11  going, and, again, my personal recommendation would

         12  be to stop buying these things at this point, rather

         13  than proceeding to fill a warehouse with machines

         14  that are not being placed.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: We'd be

         16  happy to provide the Council with a status report in

         17  early March.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         19                 Council Member Jackson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         21                 Good afternoon. I don't want to be

         22  looking the other way into the mic and talking to

         23  you. I don't have eyes on both sides.

         24                 Deputy Chancellor, good afternoon.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Good
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          2  afternoon.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I have a

          4  couple of questions. What unit within the Department

          5  of Education is going to be responsible to oversee

          6  this program? Who's office?

          7                 I know you're the Deputy Chancellor

          8  for Operations, but, you know, overall that may fall

          9  under your purview, what office is going to be

         10  handling this specifically?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, one

         12  of the issues we're wrestling with, because it's a

         13  different thing than we've ever done, is exactly how

         14  to locate this.

         15                 The procurement part, the buying of

         16  them, we have a procurement office responsible for

         17  that. The issuance of the RFP similarly our Deputy

         18  Chancellor oversees, Administration is overseeing

         19  the implementation of the total quality management

         20  contract for training folks.

         21                 So, essentially within finance and

         22  administration that's where we're handling the

         23  ordering, and the RFP itself.

         24                 But the harder question is long-term.

         25  Again, lest getting the boxes or even doing the
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          2  training, is this wholesale management structure

          3  that we have to put into place, not even so much for

          4  this first round of training, but the fact that we

          5  need, according again to state law, to certify

          6  15,000 people every two years, do these certain

          7  kinds of tests on all the machines, whether

          8  necessary or not, that is going to be a wholesale

          9  function now of the Department of Education.

         10                 We recently entered into a

         11  partnership with the Department of Health where

         12  we're sharing leadership on health issues with the

         13  Chancellor and the Commissioner, and it may well be

         14  that the programmatic element to this we want to

         15  house there so that there always remains a health

         16  piece to it. But right now accountability remains

         17  with the Deputy Chancellor.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. You

         19  indicated that an RFP went out last week, and you

         20  talked about -- well, I was thinking about, well, I

         21  mean we're considering laying off, based on our

         22  budgetary situation, thousands of employees.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: That's

         24  right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And have you
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          2  explored the possibility of an agreement with FDNY

          3  so FDNY will be doing the training, since its

          4  continuous process training, and that the main

          5  aspect is getting everyone trained initially but the

          6  training is going to be continuous. Rather than

          7  considering, and I'm looking at The Chief, and it

          8  says "Fire Fire House Closing, Staff Cuts Linger," I

          9  see this as a possibility of, instead of considering

         10  laying off staff in FDNY, for FDNY to contract to

         11  have an agreement with Department of Education for

         12  them to do the training of staff. Have you

         13  considered that?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I would be

         15  the last to speak for the Department, the Fire

         16  Department --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No, just

         18  speak for the Department of Education.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: But our

         20  initial instinct was exactly that, as I mentioned,

         21  to reach out to the other agencies, Fire, OEM,

         22  Health, anyone else that might have had more

         23  expertise in this than we did.

         24                 The sense that we had was that, at

         25  least at the time, and it may be worth revisiting,
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          2  the scale of the venture was so much greater than

          3  anyone else's scale, and everybody else was kind of

          4  staffed to do what they had to do, that saying, oh,

          5  and by the way, can you train our 15,000 people was

          6  just way beyond their capacity. If that's changed,

          7  that's something to look at.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But --

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: And the

         10  time, we didn't think that was --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Let me just

         12  dive in a little bit more to your response. Did you

         13  have those type of response? Can you do the

         14  training, or how do you run your program, and that's

         15  all you basically asked them, to get an assessment

         16  how their program is run, and not whether or not

         17  FDNY will be able to do the training.

         18                 I don't know if you got into that,

         19  and that's what I'm asking you, did you have those

         20  type of discussions?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, I

         22  don't want to tell you I personally had them, I did

         23  not. My understanding is --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Because

         25  that's the insinuation that you gave in your
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          2  response.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Sure.

          4  Well, that is my understanding, that the initial

          5  question was could another agency do this for us, in

          6  other words train and --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Is it

          8  possible that you can inquire? I would like to know

          9  a definitive answer to whether or not those

         10  discussions took place or whether or not it was just

         11  overall in getting information about their program?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Or whether

         13  it's changed.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, yes.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Which we

         16  can do again.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, do you

         18  have any idea based on the RFP that you put out, on

         19  how much the program for quality, for the training

         20  and implementation of the program, how much would it

         21  cost? What are you looking at?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Not

         23  wanting to prejudice their responses to the RFP, but

         24  it's going to be a seven figure kind of number. It's

         25  going to be a million dollar number I assume.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Are you

          3  looking at a million, 3 million, 5 million, 10

          4  million?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I don't

          6  have a feel for this, we've never done one of these

          7  before.

          8                 I wish I could tell you I had a

          9  number in mind. I'm sure it's going to be sort of a

         10  million dollar plus number, and I remember it's

         11  multiple years and retraining and so on, so the

         12  value of the contract will be very large.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, because

         14  I'm looking at your testimony, and at the end I

         15  believe you said that the Mayor and the Chancellor's

         16  goal that the Department of Education no longer

         17  assume responsibilities that are not core to his

         18  teaching and learning mission, and obviously,

         19  teaching and learning is the core, but taking care

         20  of our children are part of the core, and as far as

         21  I'm concerned, especially when you put children in

         22  the hands of the educational system, that is core.

         23  As long as they're under the care, then you have

         24  total responsibility.

         25                 So, in essence, you're looking to
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          2  contract or outsource out all of the

          3  responsibilities to this particular section of it?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: For the

          5  training and maintenance of the machine and so on,

          6  yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But the

          8  $3,000 per machine was, my understanding earlier,

          9  was not only for the machine but the signage and all

         10  of the equipment that goes with that, and the

         11  training --

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Some

         13  training, yes. Absolutely.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Was that the

         15  same quote, Jim? Help me out here. You said 2,400;

         16  was that 2,400 for the entire package that they

         17  referred to earlier, as far as approximately 3,000;

         18  or was that just for the machines? That's important.

         19  And I need clarification on that.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: That

         21  includes the training. The spec I was just handed, I

         22  think it's the same one the Councilman was looking

         23  at, was the same requirement, which is training for

         24  six individuals. Includes some training.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, that's
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          2  the difference of about, anywhere 5 to 600 dollars

          3  then?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: No, if we

          5  can do this, and I fully expect we will be, we'll

          6  try and access this lower price, but we'll get the

          7  same specification. I don't think anyone wants to

          8  change the spec. The issue is we have to train

          9  15,000 people, and continuously retrain them, is the

         10  ongoing responsibility under the law, meaning if

         11  there are four people in the building and one

         12  retires or moves to a different school, we have to

         13  train again to replace that person. That's why it

         14  gets big.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The

         16  implementation of the program, are you going to be

         17  doing that yourselves, or are you going to be

         18  leaving that to the contractor that you may hire?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, I

         20  think obviously we'll always have to remain

         21  accountable for, we'll have to manage the vendor who

         22  keeps performing some of these tasks, so the

         23  Department remains accountable for implementation,

         24  the vendor will provide a bunch of services I think

         25  including some of that training, and some of the
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          2  maintenance stuff and so on.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Because I

          4  think it's important that we, more so than a

          5  contractor, reach out to the staff of the system to

          6  say that, you know, we want to make sure that if a

          7  child or an adult goes into cardiac arrest and needs

          8  to assistance, that we're going to have a core of

          9  people that will be able to assist, in essence to

         10  reach out and to recruit volunteers more so than

         11  saying that, you know, we're going to be paying you

         12  --

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS:

         14  Absolutely.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's the

         16  ideal situation --

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Because you

         19  indicated that the program could cost, you know, on

         20  a continuous basis, especially if you have to pay

         21  staff, you know, you indicated tens of millions of

         22  dollars.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: That's

         24  correct. That's correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, I think
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          2  it's imperative that we reach out to a core of

          3  volunteers, and I would think that they may be

          4  better off coming internally than externally.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I agree

          6  with that. I agree with that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, anyway,

          8  thank you.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Okay.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

         11  Lopez.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you. I'm

         13  curious about the question of the volunteers that

         14  you want to ask for possible training process. When

         15  you said volunteer, what do you mean by that? Can

         16  you make a very specific clarification?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well,

         18  without grinding you through our collective

         19  bargaining issues, it's not currently a

         20  responsibility of a teacher to do this, or a

         21  custodian, or a worker in our building. It's not a

         22  requirement of anyone to do this as a part of their

         23  job. So, when we say we want people to be trained,

         24  we'd like people to volunteer to be trained. That's

         25  how we're hoping it will work, and most folks in our
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          2  building, that's what they're there for is to help

          3  kids, so we're optimistic that a lot of people will

          4  volunteer.

          5                 What's harder is if they're not

          6  planning to be there at that time. So, if there's an

          7  after school program or something else, everyone is

          8  planning to be home, except for maybe the coach,

          9  then if that person is not trained, and I have to

         10  essentially require someone to be there, that's

         11  where you could get into an expense.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Had you

         13  explored the possibility to talk to the teachers

         14  union and to the principal unions and all of the

         15  unions that are involved in the system?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Yes. I've

         17  spoken to the UFT myself.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And what had

         19  been the response?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: That

         21  they'll want to work with us in trying to see if we

         22  can get volunteers. I think they're going to be

         23  supportive of this. But you know, that said, there's

         24  150,000 people, so it's hard for anyone to guarantee

         25  that, but absolutely Randi has said she wants to be
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          2  helpful on this.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Did I hear you

          4  correctly saying that you're hoping that the Red

          5  Cross and organizations like that, will help you

          6  with the training?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I think

          8  so.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You said that?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: We have

         11  had discussions I believe at least with the Red

         12  Cross, maybe with the Heart Association also.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: In regard to

         14  that, what you're talking about is to hire them to

         15  do training, or that they also volunteer to do the

         16  training?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I don't

         18  have any sense -- they could, frankly, from their

         19  side, they could volunteer to train at this scale.

         20  It's an enormous number even for them. Whether they

         21  could help or help us set up the training or help us

         22  define what people need to know, I think they could

         23  probably be real helpful on that. But doing this

         24  scale of training, I think that would be unfair to

         25  even ask them to volunteer that scale.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, the

          3  reason I ask you is because we have a Health

          4  Department, and we have a Health and Hospital

          5  Corporation that exists in our City, and I think

          6  that if we have those resources in our venue, that

          7  we should not go out of our resources, if this is

          8  going to be something that is charged to the

          9  taxpayer dollars when it's right in our resources to

         10  move this forward. And on the piece of legislation

         11  that I am proposing, training should be on the

         12  jurisdiction of the Health Department and the Health

         13  and Hospital Corporation. Then I don't see why we

         14  have to go out of that to do this and to engage in

         15  further expenditure of money. Then very strongly I'm

         16  suggesting to you that if what we're talking about

         17  here is that we're going to put dollars to do RFP

         18  for the Red Cross or any of the other organizations

         19  to come and take that money, then I will suggest to

         20  you that instead of doing that, let's put the money

         21  back into the Health and Hospital Corporation and

         22  let's make sure that we've reserved jobs in there,

         23  and let's make sure that this is under the

         24  jurisdiction of the Health and Hospital Corporation,

         25  the Department of Health, for a particular reason,
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          2  and the reason that I'm looking into that, and the

          3  reason why I put it in my legislation, is because we

          4  need to keep accountability for this training to

          5  continue, and we need to maintain a system of

          6  training, not a training based on volunteers, a

          7  training based on RFP.

          8                 What is your reaction to that?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, it's

         10  definitely an important issue that we coordinate

         11  with these other agencies, and less so, I have to be

         12  honest with you, with HHC, we haven't done as much

         13  with them, a lot is with the Department of Health

         14  that we've had a pretty good partnership. And we'll

         15  talk I'm sure in a few minutes about the capacity of

         16  these agencies to do that, it's just that the

         17  reality of their ability to implement of this

         18  magnitude of program and do some of the work that's

         19  required here, which is actually more than the

         20  training, it's some of the maintenance activities

         21  and so on, I'm not sure naturally fits in the scope

         22  of work of those agencies, but obviously they have

         23  to speak for themselves, I don't need to speak for

         24  them, and I can't speak to the other legislation,

         25  and I know you proposed, we're just working on the
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          2  State legislation that affects our Department.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand

          4  that. But I get a little bit frustrated when I see,

          5  for example, the piece of legislation that I put

          6  forward, I put in 1998, the piece of legislation

          7  that the State approved was in 2002, I believe.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then many years

         10  passing between. You noticed. And in the process I

         11  also see other aspects of these pieces of

         12  legislation that had to do with money that go out of

         13  the coffers of the City. And I get preoccupied with

         14  that, and I get preoccupied because I see budget

         15  cuts coming down and up, and then at the same time

         16  is a mandate from the state to implement a law that

         17  I want to ask you now, that they funded that

         18  mandate?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: No, they

         20  did not, Council member.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That they had

         22  gave you an order to set aside certain amount of

         23  monies in your budget for this?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: No, they

         25  did not.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: None of that.

          3  Then here we go again. I mean, the Speaker has been

          4  on the money when he has been saying that we get

          5  mandates from the federal government and the State

          6  government, left and right, but the federal

          7  government and the State money mandate to us to do

          8  X, Y and Z but they don't match that with dollars,

          9  and this is absurd. Then, you know, this kind of

         10  legislation I think is hypocritical to the highest

         11  degree. And I mean, I have to say it strongly

         12  because it's infuriating what they are doing to us

         13  down here. Particularly on an issue like this, that

         14  if they recognize that they have to mandate the

         15  school system to implement this, why they don't

         16  match that with dollars? It's just absurd.

         17                 Then I am concerned in regard of the

         18  legislation that the state passed about telling you

         19  that you had to do this, but then it's not even

         20  money for training, and how is it that you are going

         21  to implement that training is also a concern of

         22  mine, and I want to make clear to the Committee that

         23  in the legislation that I'm proposing forward, I'm

         24  including training because without training these

         25  machines are useless. For what do we want these
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          2  machines, you know, if people are not going to know

          3  how to use them? Then training is critical.

          4                 Also, mass training in the schools

          5  specifically are needed, because you don't know when

          6  the child is going to be in the court, in the

          7  basketball court or in the classroom. Then I hope

          8  that the Chancellor and you and everybody is

          9  listening very carefully to this, because, you know,

         10  we're going to have more children dead if we don't

         11  give enough attention to the training piece, and to

         12  the education of people using these machines.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         15  Clarke.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you,

         17  Madam Chair.

         18                 Good afternoon, Chancellor. I'm just

         19  trying to get a sense of just how much discussion

         20  has been had with the other agencies. You've talked

         21  about some of the efforts, but it seems to me that

         22  there's really a natural match between the FDNY and

         23  this massive system you're talking about, because in

         24  most communities throughout the City of New York,

         25  you have local houses. In those local houses you
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          2  have men and women, not as many women as we'd like,

          3  but we have men and women who are trained already,

          4  who utilize their time in a number of ways. They not

          5  only fight fires, but they also do inspections in

          6  our communities for various violations on commercial

          7  properties and what have you, it seems to me that

          8  there's a natural linkage between what the FDNY does

          9  and the regional zones for schools. And I think that

         10  that's worth investigating even further.

         11                 There's a natural network within just

         12  about every community and these individuals are

         13  trained, the training is updated on a regular basis.

         14  If there's a way that we could leverage that

         15  training, their access, as a matter of fact, they

         16  have to go to the schools to do inspections. You

         17  know, fire drills are a regular part of, you know,

         18  this is your system.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Sure.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So, I think we

         21  can make this easy and we can make it a match. I'd

         22  encourage you to have some discussions with

         23  Commissioner Scoppetta about this, because the

         24  sooner we can get to the bottom of this with the

         25  least amount of cost in implementing it, I think the
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          2  better all of us in the City of New York would be.

          3  This is really a matter of life and death, there are

          4  first responders, they're right there in the

          5  community, I think it's a match.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. Any further

          7  comment on the Fire Department and their --

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: No, no.

          9  We're going to continue -- it's a fair point -- to

         10  work closely with them, and obviously have already

         11  pitched in tremendously everywhere we've asked them

         12  to. How to leverage them to help them with this

         13  issue, that's a harder question that we need to work

         14  through.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Chairperson

         16  Moskowitz had a much higher authority call, Dilan,

         17  who needed to be taken care of, so she'll be back in

         18  a minute. She wanted to apologize, though, for

         19  stepping out. She's asked me to again thank the

         20  Department for providing so much information prior

         21  to the hearing. Both her Committee and my Committee

         22  very much appreciate that and want to again thank

         23  you, and just wanted to also remind you if you

         24  could, when possible, provide us with your concerns

         25  about the bill.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS:

          3  Absolutely. That would be very helpful for us.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Next we're going

          5  to hear from Commissioner Bassett of the Department

          6  of Health and Mental Hygiene. I just before you

          7  start your testimony on this matter want to thank

          8  you and the folks from your office who recently met

          9  with myself and staff to the Health Committee about

         10  some of your infant and maternity mortality work,

         11  and it was a very good meeting and we're moving

         12  forward with getting that money out the door, so I

         13  want to thank you and your staff for that.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Thank

         15  you. Is this working?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: If the light is

         17  off it's probably working.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Good

         19  afternoon, Chairwoman Quinn and members of the City

         20  Council Education and Health Committees. I'm Mary

         21  Bassett, Deputy Commissioner of the Division of

         22  Health Promotion and Disease Prevention at the New

         23  York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         24  Scott Phelps, who is our Assistant Commissioner of

         25  the Bureau of Emergency Management, had planned to
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          2  be here but he's occupied with emergency

          3  preparedness issues this afternoon.

          4                 My background is in community

          5  medicine, and one of my central focuses has been in

          6  community approaches to preventing diseases,

          7  including cardiovascular disease, which as you know,

          8  is the main cause of cardiac arrest. I'd like to

          9  thank the Committees for affording me this

         10  opportunity to testify on this important issue.

         11                 Progress in reducing deaths from

         12  cardiovascular disease represents one of the great

         13  success stories of clinical and public health over

         14  the past half century. In actually under 50 years,

         15  the age adjusted death rate from coronary heart

         16  disease has fallen by 58 percent. The decline was a

         17  result of individual lifestyle and behavior changes,

         18  primarily smoking cessation, improved medical

         19  management, particularly of high blood pressure, and

         20  better medical treatment of those with coronary

         21  heart disease, and we still have prevention

         22  challenges ahead. One in five New Yorkers smoke

         23  cigarettes, one in 13 adults has diabetes, a risk

         24  factor for coronary artery disease, and this level

         25  doubled in just the last eight years. As DOHMH is
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          2  committed to prevention, this strategy has saved

          3  hundreds of thousands of lives.

          4                 Most cardiac arrests are due to

          5  underlying often undiagnosed coronary artery

          6  disease. The risk increases with age, the elderly

          7  are at higher risk than the young. In children these

          8  are unusual events and generally due to anatomic

          9  congenital heart disease, and these conditions are

         10  less amenable to defibrillation than is the case in

         11  cardiac arrests in adults.

         12                 Most of these events do not take

         13  place in public places. Automated external

         14  defibrillators, AEDs, are a new technology that has

         15  promised an unlimited number of situations. States

         16  and municipalities around the country are tackling

         17  the issue of how best to apply this new technology.

         18                 As you know, direct medical services,

         19  including emergency medical services, are regulated

         20  by the State Department of Health. And in New York

         21  City the emergency medical responder services are

         22  provided by EMS, which is part of the Fire

         23  Department, and participating voluntary hospitals.

         24                 The State has designated the Regional

         25  Emergency Medical Services Council of New York City,
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          2  or REMSCO, as the regional coordinator of emergency

          3  medical services in the City under Article 30 of the

          4  State Public Health Law.

          5                 Thus, many of the questions relating

          6  to how to maximize effective defibrillation may more

          7  appropriately fall within the purview of other

          8  entities that have considerable experience in

          9  emergency response; nevertheless, I'm pleased to

         10  have the opportunity to comment on this important

         11  issue from a public health vantage point.

         12                 The two City Council bills, Intro.

         13  131 and Intro. 86, would broadly mandate the

         14  establishment of AED emergency response capability

         15  and related administrative activity involving lay

         16  and professional responders. We are concerned that

         17  the legislation does not take full cognizance of the

         18  complex state requirements that apply to the use of

         19  AEDs or fully address resource and effectiveness

         20  questions that should be answered before any such

         21  mandate is imposed.

         22                 It is our opinion that this is not

         23  the best way to ensure appropriate access to

         24  defibrillation.

         25                 An amendment to Article 30 of the New

                                                            106

          1  EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  York State Public Health Law enacted in 1998, allows

          3  members of the lay public to become public access

          4  defibrillation providers, or PAD providers, under

          5  certain circumscribed conditions.

          6                 Mr. Shorris, the Deputy Chancellor,

          7  has reviewed much of this as it relates to the

          8  Department of Education efforts.

          9                 A PAD provider, which can be a person

         10  or organization possessing an AED, must have a

         11  written collaborative agreement with an emergency

         12  care, health care provider. The emergency health

         13  care provider can be either a physician first in

         14  cardiac care or a hospital that provides cardiac

         15  care. The written agreement must be filed with the

         16  State Health Department, and that region's State

         17  Regional EMS Council.

         18                 The PAD provider designates personnel

         19  within its organization to be trained as AED

         20  providers. No person may operate an AED without

         21  completing an approved AED course with the exception

         22  of licensed health care practitioners and those

         23  possessing prescriptions for the use of an AED. All

         24  AED operators must be trained by an organization

         25  approved by either the State Health Department or
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          2  the State EMS Council, and must be recertified every

          3  two years.

          4                 The state approved course of training

          5  is approximately four hours to the lay public.

          6                 In New York City, REMSCO is charged

          7  with coordinating, collecting information and data

          8  and assuring quality for this new emergency system.

          9  The PAD provider must notify REMSCO of the

         10  existence, location and type of all AEDs in its

         11  possession, and must maintain all of the AEDs in its

         12  possession according to the manufacturer's

         13  standards.

         14                 Whenever a PAD provider uses an AED,

         15  that use must be reported to REMSCO and to the

         16  Emergency Health Care provider with whom there is a

         17  collaborative agreement.

         18                 The emergency health care provider

         19  must in turn provide REMSCO with relevant quality

         20  assurance data via written report on all uses of

         21  AEDs covered under its collaborative agreement, and

         22  it's this complex administrative process that Mr.

         23  Shorris was referring to.

         24                 So, the processes required to

         25  maintain an AED are not simple. While AEDs are
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          2  becoming better, lighter and less expensive, they

          3  are not life preservers or fire extinguishers

          4  , and they're not going to become so.

          5                 The New York State law does not

          6  provide for bystander AED use. Public access

          7  defibrillation requires specific training and a very

          8  significant commitment of resources by the public

          9  and private sectors, and in the context of the

         10  proposed City Council legislation, raises a number

         11  of practical questions that need to be addressed.

         12                 For example, for any given public or

         13  private building, who would be the PAD provider

         14  charged with making sure only trained individuals

         15  operate the equipment, ensuring that the battery is

         16  charged, securing the unit against theft and

         17  vandalism, knowing where the unit is, how to get it,

         18  if it is under lock and key. For a private building,

         19  would the owner be responsible, or the tenants? How

         20  many people would need to be trained for any given

         21  location? Would there be a large enough pool of

         22  willing doctors and hospitals in the City to serve

         23  as emergency health care providers and hence to

         24  enter into many hundreds, even thousands of

         25  collaborative agreements mandated by state law that
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          2  these bills would require.

          3                 Intro. No. 131 would require AEDs to

          4  be placed in"public places," including

          5  publicly-owned buildings, buildings where City

          6  agencies provide services to the public, and

          7  buildings with total occupancy exceeding 600.

          8                 Intro. No. 86 would require AEDs to

          9  be made available at public places, including

         10  stadiums and arenas owned by the City of New York.

         11  Mass transportation hubs, including but not limited

         12  to Penn Station, Grand Central Station, and the two

         13  Port Authority bus terminals, golf courses and

         14  skating rinks owned by the City public beaches,

         15  cultural institutions and museums that receive City

         16  funding, airport terminals, public buildings,

         17  including City Hall, the municipal building, the

         18  Borough Hall and other City-owned or leased

         19  locations open to the public, hotels and shopping

         20  centers and malls.

         21                 The definition of public places,

         22  especially in Intro. 131 is unclear.

         23                 Intro. 131 states that public places

         24  include any publicly-owned building. Does this mean

         25  every depot and warehouse, maintenance garage and
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          2  dispatching station? Does it encompass every

          3  federal, state, county or City-owned structure?

          4                 The bill defines "any privately-owned

          5  building wherein services are provided by a City

          6  agency to the public as a public place."

          7                 Does this mean that one agency office

          8  in a building out of which office two employees

          9  provide phone or mail services, renders the building

         10  a public place for the purposes of this bill?

         11                 Intro. 86 states that Automatic

         12  External Defibrillators shall be made available for

         13  uses in all public places, which are defined to

         14  include many privately-owned buildings.

         15                 This language is ambiguous. Is the

         16  City responsible for purchasing and installing the

         17  AED in private buildings? Is the AED the

         18  responsibility of the building owner or government

         19  agency or agencies?

         20                 The time frame for implementation,

         21  120 days in most cases, is unrealistic in view of

         22  the numerous steps that would have to be taken.

         23                 Intro. 86 specifically includes

         24  shopping centers and malls. What constitutes the

         25  shopping center? Does this include large department
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          2  stores? How large is large?

          3                 Intro. 131 also provides the DOHMH

          4  shall provide for ongoing free training in the use

          5  of the AED. This seems unnecessary, since the state

          6  has already certified training courses that are

          7  widely available throughout the City provided by

          8  seven organizations, REMSCO, the Red Cross, the

          9  American Heart Association, the National Safety

         10  Council, the American Safety and Health Institute,

         11  Emergency Services Institute, and Medic First Aid

         12  International.

         13                 The cost of the training to the

         14  public is approximately $50 to $75 per person, which

         15  is minimal compared to the total costs that may be

         16  imposed on private parties subject to these

         17  requirements. Costs that include about $3,000 for

         18  the AED, and possible additional cost of obtaining

         19  the collaborative agreement with the emergency

         20  medical provider.

         21                 It would also be inappropriate for

         22  the DOHMH to oversee training for the Police or Fire

         23  Department personnel, since some units in those

         24  agencies already have well-established emergency

         25  responder training that far surpasses the training
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          2  required for the use of the AED.

          3                 Clearly, these requirements would be

          4  enormously costly to the City and to private

          5  building owners. Without necessarily providing

          6  commensurate benefit.

          7                 Similar proposals were introduced in

          8  1999. At that time the Department of Health, with

          9  the Office of Management and Budget, estimated that

         10  the total cost of AEDs in all the sites required

         11  under Intro. 447 recognizing that there were some

         12  questions about what sites should be included in

         13  these estimates, at about 44 million, and under

         14  Intro. 448, approximately 23.7 million.

         15                 The estimated additional cost of

         16  training, Police Department and Fire Department

         17  responders at that time would have amounted to 1.7

         18  million. The cost of training AED users in all

         19  public and private places assumed under Intros. 447

         20  and 448, approximately 3.1 million, a public

         21  awareness and education campaign and required

         22  building posters, an estimated 2 million. And these

         23  estimates obviously did not include the provision of

         24  AEDs to the schools.

         25                 Unfortunately, we do today live in a
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          2  world in which budgets are not simply a zero sum.

          3  They are in fact a declining sum. Every new mandate

          4  that comes with a cost, and the costs of this

          5  mandate must be taken from other programs, many of

          6  which may have a much greater likelihood of saving

          7  lives.

          8                 As responsible public officials, we

          9  must recognize that implementing a new multi-million

         10  dollar mandate means that we must introduce multiple

         11  millions of expenditures in other areas, other areas

         12  as important and critical as firehouses or effective

         13  heart disease prevention programs.

         14                 Beyond specific concerns about these

         15  bills, the data simply do not justify this kind of

         16  broad mandate, particularly and due of the enormous

         17  cost. It is not necessarily how many AEDs are

         18  available in a community, but where they are located

         19  that may really boost cardiac arrest survival rates.

         20                 Seattle and King County Washington

         21  studied the epidemiology of cardiac arrest. They

         22  found that 84 percent of the cardiac arrests

         23  occurred in or just outside of the home. Only 16

         24  percent, one and six, occurred in indoor and outdoor

         25  public places, workplaces included.
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          2                 Of this 16 percent, half occurred

          3  either outdoors or in cars, locations not generally

          4  amenable to public access defibrillation.

          5                 Of the remaining places, the location

          6  types where cardiac arrest took place most

          7  frequently were, in descending order, the

          8  international airport, the county jail, large

          9  shopping malls, public sports venues and large

         10  industrial sites.

         11                 The airport had the largest number of

         12  events at seven per year.

         13                 In low-incidence sites, the average

         14  annual incidence of cardiac arrest approached the

         15  vanishing point for all practical considerations. In

         16  any of 1,245 entertainment places, there was one

         17  cardiac arrest per century on average, and in any of

         18  448 government offices, there was one cardiac

         19  arrests every 330 years on average.

         20                 In the school setting, they estimated

         21  likelihood of use once every 500 years.

         22                 The study concludes that placing

         23  defibrillators in public locations is a reasonable

         24  strategy, but only in locations with relative high

         25  incidences of arrest. Planning for the placement of
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          2  AEDs in public should be guided by site specific

          3  incidents of arrests, and that communities should

          4  plan for rational placement of AEDs.

          5                 We at DOHMH believe that while

          6  improving early defibrillation is important, much

          7  remains to be done in our City to strengthen all of

          8  the links in the so-called chain of survival

          9  promulgated by the American Heart Association.

         10                 The chain of survival calls for a

         11  continuum of early access toward the arrest victim,

         12  early CPR, early defibrillation, and early advanced

         13  care.

         14                 New Yorkers are not as well schooled

         15  and quickly summoning 911 as they might be, and

         16  certainly not as adept in providing bystander CPR as

         17  some communities are. And the delivery of early

         18  defibrillation and early advanced care are both

         19  daunting challenges in a City as vertical and as

         20  densely populated as ours.

         21                 In sum, it is imperative that the

         22  related issues of AED placement, training and

         23  administration and the strengthening of the entirety

         24  of this chain of survival be studied. Then any

         25  Citywide interventions undertaken will effectively
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          2  incorporate the latest scientific understanding of

          3  the utility of this new life-saving technology and

          4  apply that understanding to the unique conditions

          5  found in New York City.

          6                 Finally, we believe that the types of

          7  chronic disease prevention activities in which we

          8  are engaged, have the potential to make an enormous

          9  contribution to reducing the toll from cardiac

         10  arrest.

         11                 The American Heart Association

         12  recently estimated that the maximum cardiac arrest

         13  survival rate in a "mature" system, one with

         14  uniformly strong links in the chain of survival,

         15  such as Seattle, Kings County, the maximum

         16  reduction, the maximum survival that it can

         17  currently achieve is about 20 percent, and that at

         18  present, early CPR and rapid defibrillation,

         19  combined with early advanced care, can result in

         20  long-term survival rates for witnessed ventricular

         21  fibrillation as high as 30 percent.

         22                 While these are certainly worthy

         23  goals for our City, if very challenging ones, and

         24  while we support them, we would not want the means

         25  for preventing the disease progression that results
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          2  in cardiac arrest, means that we know are already

          3  within our reach through the application of current

          4  public health knowledge, to be overlooked.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. I have

          7  a couple of different questions, just to start off,

          8  but let me start with the end of the testimony. I

          9  don't know, and it would be, actually if you could

         10  provide to the Committee the study that was done in

         11  Seattle and King County so we could take a look at

         12  it.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I have

         14  it here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Pardon me?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Yes, I

         17  could do that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay, great.

         19  Because clearly, Seattle, it's a useful study and we

         20  should all look at it. It doesn't strike me as a

         21  place that's completely synonymous to New York City,

         22  different type of a City so I think, it's useful to

         23  a degree, I'm not sure that it's the best

         24  comparison. And certainly, you know, it's good that

         25  in their school settings in Seattle, they, through

                                                            118

          1  EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  their study, estimated that, you know, a child, or I

          3  guess a teacher for that matter is only going to

          4  have a cardiac incident, you know, playing whatever

          5  the average, would show once every 500 years, and

          6  tragically in one week we seem to have what happens

          7  in 1,500 years in Seattle happens, so the situation

          8  clearly here is certainly different, and I just

          9  think we need to recognize that.

         10                 The study that you guys think should

         11  be done before we move forward with other type of

         12  systems, what is the status of that study?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well, I

         14  believe that we'll have testimony later from someone

         15  who knows more about it than I do, but --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: From the

         17  Department?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: No, not

         19  from the Department.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: It's the

         21  Department study, no?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: No.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: No, the

         25  Department isn't currently conducting a study on
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          2  public access defibrillation.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: When you say in

          4  sum it's imperative that the related issues of AED

          5  placement training and administration and of

          6  strengthening the entirety of the chain of survival

          7  be studied, then any Citywide interventions

          8  undertaken will effectively incorporate the latest

          9  scientific understanding of the utility of the new

         10  life-saving technology and apply that understanding

         11  to the unique conditions found in New York City;

         12  we're not doing that study?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: That's

         14  correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I misinterpreted

         16  that for you to say -- I thought what you were

         17  saying to us was the equivalent of, you know, good

         18  intentions but hang on because we're going to do a

         19  study and then based on that result, we can all

         20  collectively figure out the best piece of

         21  legislation. So, explain to me how the study factors

         22  into this, since I misunderstood, I thought you were

         23  saying you guys were doing it.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: No, the

         25  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene is not
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          2  conducting a study of public access defibrillation.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Are you on the

          4  chain of survival?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: There is

          6  a -- should I tell you about the present ongoing

          7  study?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You're not doing a

          9  study on AED, but are you doing a study on the chain

         10  of survival? No, you're not doing any study, okay.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: No,

         12  we're not doing any study.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: There is

         15  a study, an ongoing study, on looking at the impact

         16  of public access defibrillation on survival that's

         17  been funded by the National Institutes of Health,

         18  and that study involves some 20 odd, I believe the

         19  number is 24 cities in the United States, also some

         20  cities in Canada. The data collection will be

         21  completed in September of this year, and the results

         22  should be available early in 2004.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Are we one of

         24  those 24 cities?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Yes, we
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          2  are.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So that will be

          4  done in early 2004?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: The data

          6  collection will be complete, is expected to be

          7  complete in September of this year, that's 2003. But

          8  it will take some time to analyze the data so we can

          9  anticipate the results to be publicly available in

         10  2004.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: I mean, I think

         12  that may be too long, from the Council's

         13  perspective, to wait to base what we're going to do

         14  on that analysis, but obviously we'll have to see as

         15  we move forward.

         16                 Let's set aside for a second the

         17  issues of perhaps not enough clarity in either of

         18  the bills about what public places are, because I

         19  think those type of issues can always be resolved

         20  through a legislative negotiation process, but if we

         21  could go back around the legislation to your

         22  concerns about the state law, or the provisions of

         23  the '99 state law, is it fair to say that some of

         24  those provisions that were written in '99, might no

         25  longer actually be necessary given changes in
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          2  technology, you know, three or four years later?

          3                 The reason I ask that question is if,

          4  in fact, the State law is out of date, it would

          5  create an additional burden on our legislation, for

          6  argument sake, then perhaps what needs to happen is

          7  for us collectively to go to Albany and ask them the

          8  change the '99 provisions to make our laws

          9  implementable without these additional problems that

         10  you pointed out.

         11                 So, what's your interpretation of the

         12  timeliness, if you will, of those '99 provisions?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well,

         14  that's a good question. I think that the aim of the

         15  legislation is to ensure that there's careful

         16  oversight of the use of AEDs, and surely we want

         17  that to happen. What they do also achieve is

         18  difficulty in what some of us think of as bystander

         19  AED.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: They

         22  require that somebody be trained in order to use an

         23  AED. That may be appropriate or it may not be, it's

         24  really not clear, we don't have enough experience

         25  with it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: So, you would be

          3  willing to work with us to look at to see whether

          4  the state provisions, some of them might need to be

          5  changed to make us more able to have more AED

          6  accessibility in the City, or that's something you

          7  would need to think about?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I think

          9  we would have to think about that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay.

         11                 Council Member Jackson.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         13  Doctor, for coming. And it's good to see you, and I

         14  know your family and your family is very active in

         15  the community, and when I saw you there, it's a

         16  pleasure to see you as someone who is the Deputy

         17  Commissioner for Health Promotion and Disease

         18  Prevention and that goes right along with your

         19  family's activity in our community to improve them.

         20  So I appreciate your being here.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Thank

         22  you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But in

         24  listening to your testimony, basically, and I'm not

         25  any expertise in this area, I'm just a member of the
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          2  City Council trying to understand it and to try to

          3  see what's best overall, as far as the people of New

          4  York City.

          5                 But in sum and substance, what I'm

          6  hearing from you is that the proposed laws have a

          7  lot to be desired and a lot of unanswered questions,

          8  and it seems to be unimplementable by the

          9  Commissioner of Health and Human -- Mental Health

         10  Services and that if you had your wish, you wished

         11  that your law, proposed law was not on the table; is

         12  that what I'm gathering from your testimony?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: What

         14  I've tried to highlight is that we need to think

         15  carefully about rational placement of this new

         16  technology which certainly has promise.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, in

         18  listening to your testimony as far as the study in

         19  California, and especially the statistics, it says

         20  in any of the 1,245 entertainment places, there was

         21  one cardiac arrest per century on average. I thought

         22  you might put a question mark there. I mean, I'm

         23  curious, how did they determine one per century when

         24  probably these defibrillators were only, you know,

         25  20 years ago at the most.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Oh,

          3  okay.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And the next

          5  one is at 448 government offices there was one

          6  cardiac arrest every 333 years. And I said, wait a

          7  minute, has this program been implemented that long?

          8  Help me out here as a layperson.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Sure.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Because the

         11  people of my community are not going to understand

         12  this, and basically if somebody asks me, well, how

         13  did they come up with this, I want to be able to

         14  respond.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Right.

         16  That's a good question. What it means is that you

         17  take the total number of deaths that occurred in a

         18  different setting, and then you divide it by the

         19  number of places. You can end up with a number of

         20  deaths that's less than one. So say in the case of

         21  the schools it was .002 on average deaths per school

         22  per year, and that translates into on average one

         23  death every 500 school years.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What would

         25  the statistics be based on the amount of deaths we
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          2  experienced within the past year in New York City

          3  then and where --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well, --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm sorry,

          6  just let me finish.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Where the

          9  possibility of an ACD may have been available and

         10  could have possibly, you know, restored someone's,

         11  one of the student's lives.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well,

         13  this is always the difficulty with statistics.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: When

         16  something happens to a whole person, such as the

         17  tragic death of three children, they had 100 percent

         18  event. They didn't have.002 of an event, but on

         19  average throughout the whole school system,

         20  throughout all the number of schools and all of the

         21  children in the schools, these are rare events.

         22                 So, that's the difference between

         23  statistics, and one life at a time, the statistics

         24  help give you a sense of the frequency of an event

         25  in a certain setting.
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          2                 So, we know that settings where, what

          3  the data suggests is that settings where there are

          4  sort of large captive populations, mass transport

          5  hubs, airports, casinos, studies where there's a

          6  high proportion of elderly people whom we know to be

          7  at much higher risk for cardiac events. These are

          8  settings where these events occur more frequently.

          9                 But an event occurs, it occurs.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: We don't

         12  have either 100 percent or zero percent in

         13  statistics, we have a whole range, and that range

         14  gives us the notion of the frequency, the risk in

         15  that setting, but when one event occurs, it occurs

         16  100 percent to that person. I don't know if I helped

         17  you with that at all.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You have. But

         19  I got the impression in listening to the testimony,

         20  and obviously you are representing the Commissioner

         21  for the Department of Health and Mental Health

         22  Services; is that correct?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: That's

         24  correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Is this also
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          2  the Mayor's position?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I can't

          4  speak for the Mayor.

          5                 Please finish.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The

          7  Commissioner is appointed by the Mayor so I assume

          8  that this is the Mayor's position; is that a wrong

          9  assumption? If you can't answer that, it's okay.

         10  Maybe I'll ask --

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I

         12  haven't talked to the Mayor about it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'll wait

         14  until your consultant communicates with you.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: What we

         16  are doing is responding as the Mayor's Technical

         17  Agency on Health with our best judgment on this

         18  legislation, so it is the Administration's position.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I assumed

         20  that.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: So you

         22  knew that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I assumed

         24  that, but I wanted to be clear.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That was a great
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          2  government affairs whisper into the Commissioner's

          3  ear. That was Fran Paris, the terrific government

          4  liaison for DOH.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: So it is

          6  our position that the legislation requires a great

          7  deal more thought, and we've tried to highlight

          8  that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, I

         10  surmised by your testimony that the Mayor and the

         11  Commissioner of Health would rather see the dollars

         12  that are going to be spent on implementing the law,

         13  assuming that it's passed, will be better off used

         14  in preventative services in the long run, and that

         15  in the long run, statistically, would save more

         16  lives. Am I correct in that summary that I received,

         17  or is that my impression?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: What I

         19  tried to highlight is that the use of AEDs, as

         20  suggested in the legislation, is too broad.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I

         23  wouldn't want to leave you or the rest of the

         24  members of the Committee with the impression that we

         25  don't think that clinical interventions are useful.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No, I know.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: In fact

          4  they are.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No, I do

          6  believe it was clear that clinical intervention was

          7  appropriate, but I clearly got the impression that

          8  from a monetary, just talking about dollars and

          9  cents, it will be better off, rather than --

         10  especially with all of the issues that were

         11  brain-stormed as to the problems and implementation

         12  and legalities and affiliations and all of that,

         13  that in the long-run it may be best to use the money

         14  for education and preventative services than this

         15  particular program, because in the longrun, if you

         16  take it out over 25 years, that more people's lives

         17  will be saved in the longrun rather than in the

         18  shortrun; is that a correct conclusion that I

         19  reached?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: No. What

         21  I would like to say is that the AED may be useful in

         22  certain limited circumstances and that the present

         23  legislation calls for replacement of AEDs that's far

         24  more extensive than are supported by the data. We

         25  will have more data in several months that may help
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          2  guide better our placement of AEDs.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: My final

          4  question, Madam Chairs, is this: Is the New York

          5  City Department of Health and Mental Health Services

          6  keeping statistics as to cardiac arrest by age, by

          7  geographical locations, you know, sort of like the

          8  study that was done in California?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: The

         10  study that was done in Seattle was actually done by

         11  their emergency medical services, who they're the

         12  first responders for cardiac arrest. And in fact,

         13  it's quite difficult using our death certificates to

         14  identify deaths due to cardiac arrests. We don't

         15  code deaths in that way.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What about by

         17  keeping statistics from first responders?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: But we

         19  can keep it from first responders. There should be

         20  data from first responders, but in fact it's quite

         21  difficult to get estimates on the number of sudden

         22  cardiac deaths, outside of special surveillance

         23  activities.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, thank

         25  you. Thank you very much, Doctor. It's good seeing
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          2  you.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Nice to

          4  see you again.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

          6  Oddo.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Madam

          8  Chair.

          9                 Commissioner, you might want to ask

         10  Fran Paris to sit down before my question starts so

         11  we can probably save some time.

         12                 I find it absolutely fascinating that

         13  at every hearing, at every press conference, at

         14  every talk show, at every cocktail party we heard

         15  statistics from the Department of Health about how

         16  many deaths could be avoided, how many second-hand

         17  smoke deaths could be avoided if we implemented the

         18  smoking bill. And today there was not one word in

         19  your testimony, not one word in response to

         20  questions from Council Member Jackson and the chair

         21  about how many lives could be saved by

         22  defibrillators. And if the average citizen was

         23  watching this show and they'll watch it on

         24  Crosswalks, they'll walk away from the testimony

         25  that we've heard from this administration almost
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          2  scared of AEDs, and I really think that we have done

          3  a disservice to AEDs.

          4                 It may be difficult for government to

          5  implement a broad AED program, but I pray to God

          6  that civic groups and senior groups and all kinds of

          7  other entities who are watching this show don't flip

          8  the channel and say the heck with AEDs for our group

          9  because it's just too complicated.

         10                 I am a lawyer by training. I am

         11  paranoid, obsessive and compulsive by experience, I

         12  understand the difficulties of this, but I really am

         13  chagrinned by the assault, if you will, on these

         14  AEDs. It's absolutely amazing to me. They aren't our

         15  enemy. These are life-saving devices, and to hear

         16  the Department of Health come in and testify and

         17  say, you know, the AEDs, they're a new technology

         18  that has promise in a limited number of situations,

         19  I think that's an absolute disservice to the

         20  American Heart Association, to the American Red

         21  Cross, to the Acompora family, for people who have

         22  put their life's work into getting these things into

         23  the hands of people who could save lives.

         24                 And I have to tell you, it really

         25  blows my mind to hear cost benefit analysis, to hear
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          2  about how raising, in Seattle, a 20 percent or a 30

          3  percent survival rate, well, you know, it's almost,

          4  you know, is it worth it? What's the survival rate

          5  for sudden cardiac arrest in New York City? One, two

          6  percent? Would we not, if we moved that rate up to

          7  20 or 30 percent, would that not be a phenomenal,

          8  probably the most productive program in the history

          9  of New York City government?

         10                 Absolutely amazing. I understand, I

         11  mean this cost benefit analysis, here's the thing,

         12  they are a safety net, and I know this may be

         13  difficult for some members of this administration to

         14  understand, but they're like our firefighters, we

         15  don't pay them by the fire. We pay them for when the

         16  proverbial crap hits the fan, and this is what the

         17  AED does. None of the programs that you talked about

         18  would have saved the lives of Louis Acompora who was

         19  a 14-year-old boy playing Lacrosse, perfectly

         20  healthy, does not have -- let me find it --

         21  cardiomyopathy, was perfectly healthy, he gets hit

         22  making a save, but for the defibrillator he dies,

         23  and I feel like we're losing sight of that in the

         24  hearing.

         25                 We've heard witness after witness
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          2  from the Administration sort of poo-pooing the

          3  efficacy and value of defibrillators. Yes, it's a

          4  difficult program to implement. I agree with you. In

          5  a City in this scope it's difficult. We're in a

          6  budget crisis, but please, let's not leave the

          7  public with the perception that this is some new

          8  fangled technology and we're only on the cusp of

          9  understanding it. No, we are not in the era of

         10  public access defibrillation. No, New York City and

         11  New York State is not O'Hare Airport where you can

         12  go in and just pull it off the wall. We should be

         13  moving towards that, and that's the testimony that I

         14  wish we heard today, how this Administration and

         15  this Council are going to work together to move to

         16  the day where, to use your testimony, AEDs are like

         17  fire extinguishers.

         18                 I mean, there was this almost

         19  assault, and I hope the public, if they're watching

         20  and the media portraying it today, tonight and

         21  tomorrow portrays it, these are valuable tools that

         22  save lives that are being used across the country

         23  and that we are in fact behind the curve.

         24                 And my Dennis Miller rant is over.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I don't

                                                            136

          1  EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2  know whether you expected an answer or not.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, if you want

          4  to say something?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Yes, I

          6  would like to say that it's not been questioned that

          7  AED's are a technology which have the capacity to

          8  save lives.

          9                 What we have pointed out is that

         10  these are devices which require oversight,

         11  maintenance, management, they have costs that go

         12  beyond the simple costs of acquiring them, and they

         13  are not as simple to use as fire extinguishers so

         14  that we should try to place them where we believe

         15  that they'll do the most good.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: May I ask one

         17  other question? You said we need to think rationally

         18  about the placement of AEDs. Hasn't the previous

         19  administration, at the very least, begun that

         20  process with phase 1 of the Giuliani plan?

         21                 If you read your testimony, it's

         22  almost as if these two bills come in a vacuum. Had

         23  not the Giuliani Administration with its program

         24  actually done and answered some of the questions

         25  that you raised in your testimony?

                                                            137

          1  EDUCATION AND HEALTH

          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well, it

          3  does not refer to the 126 AEDs which are already

          4  placed around the City, none of which have ever been

          5  used in the last 18 months.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Was there not a

          7  save on the Staten Island ferry with one of the AEDs

          8  that were put into place?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I'm just

         10  referring to the testimony that was delivered by the

         11  OEM just a few, just within this hearing.

         12                 The Commissioner testified that 126

         13  AEDs have been placed, that there have been no

         14  events, and that none of these have been used that

         15  they have been in place.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I believe there

         17  was actually someone saved with an AED on a Staten

         18  Island ferry.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I'm just

         20  referring to the testimony that we've heard. I

         21  wouldn't question your facts.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You know one thing

         23  that I think -- you know, I just want to say kind of

         24  as a follow-up, and I think, kind of I think in some

         25  ways the statement will reflect where the committees
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          2  are coming from on this. You know, in your testimony

          3  you outlined a list of issues relating to state law

          4  that we need to now go and look at, and I guess, you

          5  know, there's the issue that AEDs require, you know,

          6  training and such. I guess from my perspective,

          7  there may be what's required as a result of a state

          8  law that's a couple of years old, and then there

          9  would be what the Department of Health and Mental

         10  Hygiene, as Mayor's Health Advisors or whatever the

         11  way it was described as, believe is required.

         12                 If the requirement so-to-speak are

         13  the result of a state law that somehow then tie the

         14  hands of the City of New York, then we need to go

         15  and get out of that state law, because it seems like

         16  in the way that you outlined the state law that the

         17  state law is out of date with the AED technology, as

         18  I understand it, which although not a fire

         19  extinguisher, I mean seems like, as I understand it,

         20  the AED machines tell you what to do as you go

         21  along, in fact don't let you do it if what you were

         22  doing would harm the person that you're trying to

         23  help, as opposed to fire extinguishers which

         24  actually don't have any prompts along with them

         25  actually.
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          2                 So, I guess in your --

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I hear

          4  what you're saying.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:-- Adherence to the

          6  word require, are what you saying there is these

          7  state requirements that are imposed on us and that's

          8  a problem we have to get over, or is it your

          9  perspective as a public health professional that

         10  they require it because you believe they require it

         11  because that's your perspective on the machinery, in

         12  which case then we may have to at this juncture

         13  agree to disagree on that, as opposed to the state

         14  issue, which is a different matter we'll have to

         15  overcome.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I think,

         17  Chairwoman Quinn, what you're asking is do we think

         18  this is a bad law, that it is excessively burdensome

         19  to people who want to implement public access

         20  defibrillation. And the answer to that is we have no

         21  reason to think that it's a bad law, that we have no

         22  reason to think that public access defibrillation

         23  shouldn't be subject to this kind of oversight. We

         24  just don't have the experience or the data yet.

         25                 There have been some well publicized
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          2  positive stories about public access defibrillation.

          3                 Some of you may have heard of the

          4  experience in the Chicago Airport --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Yes.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Where

          7  there were 22 cardiac arrests to which the lay

          8  public were entitled to respond because they had

          9  AEDs sort of posted every 60 to 90 seconds through

         10  the airport.

         11                 In fact, of the people who responded,

         12  only seven were people that we would call good

         13  samaritans, and four of them were health workers,

         14  who are -- we know that people who are in airports

         15  don't represent sort of the same population as

         16  people we might find in other locations.

         17                 So these were all pretty well-trained

         18  people, and it may be that those are the types of

         19  people who are in fact going to use AEDs when they

         20  are available.

         21                 The testimony from the DOE suggested

         22  that they're concerned that some teachers, for

         23  example, may be uneasy using AEDs, and we don't know

         24  whether, if these are posted widely, whether the lay

         25  public would in fact use them.
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          2                 So, we are going to be gaining more

          3  experience with this, and that experience will be

          4  very helpful to future policy formulations.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Well, I guess just

          6  before I call on Council Member Lopez and then

          7  Council Member Clarke, you know, I think we are,

          8  from the Committee's perspective, and Council Member

          9  Oddo as a member of the Health Committee, looking to

         10  -- we're not really particularly -- I don't think

         11  the time frame with the NIH data is one that's going

         12  to work with the Committee's time frame, so just as

         13  you back to the Department and have time to kind of

         14  think this through and think about what came up at

         15  today's hearing, I just want you to know that we're

         16  looking to move more quickly and more aggressively

         17  on the issue of public AED's than waiting til 2004

         18  to begin analyzing where we should go. So, just for

         19  your information.

         20                 Council Member Lopez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I'm very sorry

         22  that I'm standing here. I didn't know that this

         23  hearing was going to take place by the time that I

         24  committed myself to a bunch of appointments today.

         25  And some people have been waiting there for me in my
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          2  office and I need to leave, then I apologize for

          3  that.

          4                 I just have one question for you. In

          5  2002, the State passed a law, I want to know what

          6  was the position that the Department took in regard

          7  to this proposal, in regard to what Albany was

          8  doing.

          9                 Did you testify against this piece of

         10  legislation that Albany was trying to put in place?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Are you

         12  referring to the legislation about the placement of

         13  AEDs in schools?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I'd have

         16  to turn to Fran. I wasn't here at the time. Is she

         17  still here still?

         18                 Can I get some help here? They want

         19  to know whether DOH testified about the AEDs in

         20  schools?

         21                 I'm afraid I'd have to get back to

         22  you on that. I don't know the answer to that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I'm asking a

         24  question that is further into this. Did the

         25  Administration testify against this piece of
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          2  legislation from the side of the Department of

          3  Health, the Department of Education or any

          4  department at the state level?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Again,

          6  I'll have to get back to you on that. I personally

          7  just don't know the answer to that question.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, the

          9  Administration is here, and I'm asking the question,

         10  I'm very serious about this question that I'm

         11  asking, and I need an answer. Independently, if you

         12  were here or not, the people from the Mayor's Office

         13  are here, and they are talking to each other over

         14  there, maybe they can give me some attention.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: It looks like the

         16  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene did not

         17  testify. The question for the folks from the Office

         18  of Legislative Affairs, is whether you have any

         19  knowledge of did other City agencies testify in

         20  opposition in Albany to the -- or support for that

         21  matter, or just give technical comment without

         22  taking a position, recognizing DOHMH didn't, did any

         23  other City agency testify on that legislation in

         24  Albany?

         25                 If OLA has an answer to that, great.
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          2  If not --

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I'm

          4  being told that we'll have to check with the State.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: What? I didn't

          6  hear you.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: I

          8  haven't received -- I have no more information to

          9  give you. We'll have to check.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, this is

         11  fascinating, because I have to agree with Council

         12  Member Oddo, and he and I represent two spectrums

         13  that are so different, and he and I are submitting

         14  pieces of legislation that are so similar, he is in

         15  the Republican right wing area, and I am in the

         16  Democratic left wing area. Here we are fighting for

         17  the same thing which is fascinating.

         18                 This is my comment about this. The

         19  reason I ask you is because it's outrageous for me

         20  to hear the Department of Education come to talk to

         21  us about the lack of possibility of implementing a

         22  law that was passed by the State, because it's

         23  unfunded. And that the Administration did not fight

         24  back that, and the Administration has not stand up

         25  to make very clear that a law like this that is
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          2  passed at the level of the state that is not funded,

          3  should not be passed.

          4                 And then I understand the proposition

          5  that you put on the table in regard of not enough

          6  statistical information, and I hear you and I

          7  comprehend that. What I do not understand is, if

          8  it's not enough statistical information to date, it

          9  was not enough statistical information in 2002, and

         10  therefore, the state passed this piece of

         11  legislation in a way that our legislators up there

         12  didn't know what they were doing.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well, I

         14  think that the statistical information that was

         15  available was the death of, tragic death of a child

         16  on a Lacrosse field. The type of statistical

         17  information that I have been referring to is a

         18  little different than that, it tries to refer to the

         19  overall likelihood of risk.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understood

         21  that. And I understood very clear my issue here is

         22  that the state passed a law that is a massive

         23  mandate to the entire state, unfunded, no money

         24  attached to it, and I guess that it was a show, a

         25  show to say we are looking into this. Because I
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          2  don't understand, if the intent of the state was to

          3  send a message that this issue is serious and is

          4  clearly needed to be addressed by the piece of

          5  legislation that is sent down, then what is it that

          6  in here we have a problem with? And I don't get it.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BASSETT: Well,

          8  your comment is well taken.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Final questions

         11  from Council Member Clarke.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you.

         13                 Just in listening to your statistical

         14  analysis, I was wondering whether the analysis that

         15  was done used health indicators and disparities as a

         16  variable, because we have been looking, at least

         17  from a Council standpoint, at the increase in

         18  cardiac disease, and I know that that's certainly

         19  the City's Department of Health has looked, and

         20  we've looked at concentration of disease in various

         21  communities, and the likelihood that that will at

         22  some point land someone within our health care

         23  system, and if that variable were utilized in the

         24  analysis of what the likelihood of the use of the

         25  AED is, what difference that would make in your
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          2  projections about the use of them. Because I would

          3  like to see any analysis that's been done that

          4  doesn't indicate that there's a high likelihood,

          5  particularly in communities of color, and poorer

          6  communities where these defibrillators wouldn't be

          7  life-saving, so I'd like an answer to that. But just

          8  to finally say, you know, we talked about cost here

          9  today, and on the other end, you know, I try to stay

         10  out of the political issues when we're dealing with

         11  governmental implementation, but we're constantly

         12  hearing about tort reform. So, we're talking about

         13  on the one hand saying $44 million is too much to

         14  put out there to save lives, but we're willing to

         15  take the risk that someone will die. We have a

         16  statute handed down and that a family will be

         17  awarded more than $44 million because of the

         18  wrongful death of their child. I don't get that.

         19                 You know, so we want to say on the

         20  one hand, let's not allow for these folks to be able

         21  to sue for that kind of money, but on the other

         22  hand, we're not willing to invest it to say that we

         23  can save so many more lives and mitigate the

         24  possibility of one family having to seek those type

         25  of damages.

